
City of Bethel 
         P.O. Box 1388 

    Bethel, Alaska 99559 

      Phone: 907- 543-2047 

         Fax: 907-543-3781 

Regular City Council Meeting 

Tuesday, November 28, 2017 

    6:30 P.M. 

Council Chambers; Bethel, Alaska 



Agenda posted on November 22, 2017, at City Hall, AC Co., Swanson’s, and the Post Office.  

_________________________     
Kevin Morgan, Asst. City Clerk 
(Items on the agenda noted with an asterisk (*) are considered the consent agenda. 
All Resolutions noted with an asterisk (*) will automatically be adopted on the consent agenda unless removed from the consent agenda by Council.  
Ordinances introduced with an asterisk (*) on the consent agenda will automatically be introduced and set for Public Hearing December 12, 2017. 
The Council may, after 12:00am, and only by a unanimous consent vote to Fix the Time to Which To Adjourn for the following day at 6:30 p.m. 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
November 28, 2017 – 6:30 pm 
City Hall 300 State Highway, Bethel, AK 
City of Bethel Council Chambers 

Rick Robb 
Mayor 

Term Expires 2018 
rrobb@cityofbethel.net 

Fred Watson 
Vice-Mayor 

Term Expires 2018 
fwatson@cityofbethel.net 

Leif Albertson 
Council Member 

Term Expires 2019 
lalbertson@cityofbethel.net 

Mark Springer 
Council Member 

Term Expires 2018 
msprigner@cityofbethel.net 

Naim Shabani 
Council Member 

Term Expires 2019 
nshabani@cityofbethel.net 

Thor Williams 

Council Member 
Term Expires 2019 
twilliams@cityofbethel.net 

Mitchell Forbes  

Council Member  
Term Expires 2019 
mforbes@cityofbethel.net 

Pete Williams 

City Manager 
543-2047 
pwilliams@cityofbethel.net 

Lori Strickler 

City Clerk 
543-1384 

lstrickler@cityofbethel.net 

Patty Burley 

City Attorney 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

III. ROLL CALL

IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD – Five minutes per person

V. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA AND REGULAR AGENDA

VI. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES

a) *10-24-2017 Regular Meeting  
b) *11-9-2017 Special Meeting 

VII. REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEE

VIII. SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS

a) Health Fitness Monthly Report On The YK Fitness Center (Mayor Robb)
IX. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

a) Introduction of Ordinance 17-46: Amending The Bethel Municipal Code
Chapter 4.16.160 Tax Exemptions Rental Units Tax Exemption On Fuel And
Electricity (Council Member Shabani)

b) Public Hearing Of Ordinance 17-47: Supporting The Amendment To The
Official Map And Land Use Code (City Manager Williams)

X. NEW BUSINESS

a) Introduction of Ordinance 17-48: Amending Fees And Charges Related To
Alcohol, Subdivisions (City Manager Williams)

b) Introduction of Budget Ordinance 17-28(d): Ordinance of the Bethel City
Council Amending the Adopted Annual FY 2018 Budget (City Manager
Williams)

c) Resolution 17-20: City Of Bethel Priorities For The FY 2019

State Of Alaska Capital Budget (City Manager Williams)

d) Resolution 17-21: Authorizing The Administration To Amend The City Of
Bethel Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) Participation Agreement
To Exempt The Position Of The Police Chief From Participation In PERS (City
Manager Williams)

e) AM 17-71: Re-Appointment Of Committee And Commission Members For A
Term Of Three Years: Michelle Dewitt/Parks, Recreation, Aquatic Health and
Safety Committee (PRAHS); Kathryn Baldwin/PRAHS; Lorin Bradbury/Planning
Commission; Jon Cochrane/Finance Committee (Mayor Robb)

f) AM 17-72: Bethel City Council Regular Meeting Dates for Calendar Year 2018
(Mayor Robb)

P5

P12

P34

P41

P44

P46

P78

P84

P89

P90

mailto:rrobb@cityofbethel.net
mailto:fwatson@cityofbethel.net
mailto:lalbertson@cityofbethel.net
mailto:msprigner@cityofbethel.net
mailto:nshabani@cityofbethel.net
mailto:twilliams@cityofbethel.net
mailto:mforbes@cityofbethel.net
mailto:pwilliams@cityofbethel.net
mailto:lstrickler@cityofbethel.net


Agenda posted on November 22, 2017, at City Hall, AC Co., Swanson’s, and the Post Office.  

_________________________     
Kevin Morgan, Asst. City Clerk 
(Items on the agenda noted with an asterisk (*) are considered the consent agenda. 
All Resolutions noted with an asterisk (*) will automatically be adopted on the consent agenda unless removed from the consent agenda by Council.  
Ordinances introduced with an asterisk (*) on the consent agenda will automatically be introduced and set for Public Hearing December 12, 2017. 
The Council may, after 12:00am, and only by a unanimous consent vote to Fix the Time to Which To Adjourn for the following day at 6:30 p.m. 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
November 28, 2017 – 6:30 pm 
City Hall 300 State Highway, Bethel, AK 
City of Bethel Council Chambers 

g) AM 17-73: Appointment of Louise Russell to the Community Action Grant
Technical Review Board (Mayor Robb)

h) AM 17-74: Direct Administration To Prepare And Submit A FY 2019
Community Transportation Grant Application To Fund The Operation Of The
Bethel Transit System With The City’s FY 2019 Budget As Local Match (City
Manager Williams)

XI. MAYOR’S REPORT

XII. MANAGER’S REPORTS

XIII. CLERK’S REPORT

XIV. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS

XV. EXECUTIVE SESSION

a) In Accordance With AS 44.62.310(c)1: Matters, The Immediate Knowledge Of
Which Would Clearly Have An Adverse Effect Upon The Finances Of The
Public Entity- Court House Leased Property Contract (City Manager Williams)

b) In Accordance With AS 44.62.310(c)2:  Subjects that tend to prejudice the
reputation and character of any person, provided the person may request a
public discussion - Quarterly Evaluation, City Attorney (Mayor Robb)

XVI. ADJOURNMENT

P91

P92

P125



 

Approval of the Meeting Minutes 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

4



1 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 24, 2017 

Regular Meeting 
October 24, 2017 

 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER   

 
A Regular Meeting of the Bethel City Council was held on October 24, 2017 at 6:30 p.m., 
in the council chambers, Bethel, Alaska. 
 
Vice-Mayor Watson called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.  

 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
III. ROLL CALL 

 

 
IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD   

 
Cezary Maczynski – Spoke in opposition to the issuance of a package store 
license to Alaska Commercial Company due to the accessibility of the property 
and parking on the property. 
 
Ronda Sargent, Bethel 4H Program Director- Announced the “Lights On After 
School” which is a national campaign that brings awareness to after school 
programs such as 4H. Thanked the City of Bethel for the contribution to their 
program. The “Lights On After School” event will be this Thursday from 6-8p.m. 
 
Mary Nanuwak – The latest legislative session has been extended again. It is 
important for government, no matter the size to work hard and together. The 
City Council is in place to serve the public, not the other way around.  

          City Council Meeting  
       City of Bethel, Alaska 

Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following members were present: 

Vice-Mayor Fred Watson Council Member Mark Springer 

Mayor Rick Robb (arrived at 8:27p.m.) Council Member Thor Williams 

Council Member Mitchell Forbes   Council Member Leif Albertson 

Council Member Naim Shabani  

 Also in attendance were the following: 

City Manager Pete Williams City Clerk Lori Strickler 

City Attorney Patty Burley  

5



2 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 24, 2017 

David E. Trantham Jr. – Thanked Council Member Shantz and Council Member 
Welch for their service to the community.  
Suggested the City consider a radio show to allow the members of the 
community to reach out to the council.  
 
Arvin Dull – Provided a concern regarding the location of the Alaska Commercial 
Company Package Store License application due to its proximity to the school 
and city bus locations.  

 
V. APPROVAL OF THE CONSENT AND REGULAR AGENDA 

 
Main Motion: Approve the Consent and Regular Agenda.  

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
Primary 

Amendment: 

Move New Business Item C to follow special orders of business and New Business 

Item F to the follow new Business Item C.   

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
Primary 

Amendment: 

Postpone New Business Item A to the next regular meeting. 

Moved by: Shabani 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
Removal from 

Consent: New Business Item C from the consent agenda.  

Moved by: Springer 

 
Removal from 

Consent: New Business Item B from the consent agenda. 

Moved by: Albertson 

 
VI. APPROVAL OF THE MEETING MINUTES 

 
Item A – 10-10-2017 Regular Meeting. 

6



3 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 24, 2017 

Passed on the Consent Agenda 
 
Item B – 10-16-2017 Special Meeting. 
Passed on the Consent Agenda 

 
VII. REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEES 

 
Public Safety and Transportation Commission – 
A meeting has not been held since the last City Council meeting.  
 
Port Commission - 
No one is available to provide a report.  
 
Planning Commission - 
The Alaska Commercial Company Conditional Use Permit application was considered 
and approved with conditions.  
The Commission also approved an updated land use map which is presented to the 
City Council meeting.  
The Commission met to approve the AVEC site plan permit for the turbine.  
 
Parks, Recreation, Aquatic Health and Safety Center Committee – 
A meeting has not been held since the last City Council meeting.  
 
Finance Committee - 
A meeting has not been held since the last City Council meeting.  
 
Energy Committee - 
A meeting has not been held since the last City Council meeting.  
  
Public Works Committee   
A meeting has not been held since the last City Council meeting.  
 

VIII. SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 
NEW BUSINESS   
 

Item C – Resolution 17-19: Authorizing The Issuance Of A Utility Revenue Bond Of 
The City In A Principal Amount Not To Exceed $913,000 To Finance Water And 
Wastewater Utility Improvements; Creating A Lien On Net Revenues Of The City’s 
Water And Wastewater Utilities For The Payment Of The Bond; Providing For The 
Date, Terms And Covenants Of The Bond; And Authorizing The Sale Of The Bond To 
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, Or A Wholly Owned Subsidiary Of Wells Fargo 

7



4 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 24, 2017 

Bank, National Association, Pursuant To The Terms And Conditions Provided In This 
Resolution. 

 
Main Motion: Adopt Resolution 17-19. 

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
Item F- AM 17-67: Authorize The Installation Of Art In The YK Fitness Center As Agreed 
To In The Memorandum Of Agreement Between The City Of Bethel And Bethel 
Community Services Foundation And Rasmuson Foundation For The Tier 2 Grant: Art 
Project. 
 

Primary 
Amendment: 

Approve AM 17-67.  

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
IX. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

Item A – Public Hearing Of Ordinance 17-45: Amending Fees And Charges Related 
To Planning Services For Tall Towers. 

     Vice-Mayor Watson opened the Public Hearing. 
     No one present to be heard. 
     Vice-Mayor Watson closed the Public Hearing.  

 
Main Motion: Adopt Ordinance 17-45. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Albertson 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 

X. NEW BUSINESS 
 
Item A –Introduction of Ordinance 17-46: Amending The Bethel Municipal Code 
Chapter 4.16.160 Tax Exemptions Rental Units Tax Exemption On Fuel And Electricity. 

Postponed.  
 

8



5 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 24, 2017 

Item B – Introduction of Ordinance 17-47: Supporting The Amendment To The 
Official Map And Land Use Code. 

 
Main Motion: Introduce Ordinance 17-47.  

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Albertson  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
Item D – AM 17-65: Postpone Until November 28, The Agenda Items Set For The 
November 14, Regular City Council Meeting Due To A Lack Of A Quorum For The 
Council’s November 14 Regular Meeting. 

 
Main Motion: Approve AM 17-65. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Albertson  
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
Item E – AM 17-66: Approve The Mayor’s Appointment Of Mary Nanuwak To The 
Public Safety And Transportation Commission For A Term Of Three Years. 

Passed on the consent agenda.  
 
Item G – AM 17-68: Direct The City Administration To Research The Appropriate 
Lifting Equipment Needed To Conduct Necessary Maintenance At The YK Fitness 
Center. 

  
Main Motion: Approve AM 17-68. 

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Albertson  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
Item H – AM 17-69: Direct Administration To Prepare A Resolution Supporting Bethel 
City Council’s Legislative Priorities For The FY 2019 State Of Alaska Capital Budget. 

 
Main Motion: Approve AM 17-69. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Albertson  
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

9



6 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 24, 2017 

Item I – AM 17-70: Authorizing The City Manager To Negotiate And Potentially 
Contract With The Top Scorer(s) For Planning And Engineering Services. 

 
Main Motion: Approve AM 17-70. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Albertson  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
XI. MAYOR’S REPORT 
XII. MANAGER’S REPORT 
XIII. CLERK’S REPORT 
XIV. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 

 
Vice-Mayor Fred Watson –  
Thanked the outgoing council members Alisha Welch and Mike Shantz.  
Reminded the public that this is fire prevention week and that they can bring their 
smoke detectors to the Fire Station to have them checked and get new batteries. 
 
Council Member Leif Albertson –Reminded the Public that it is getting dark outside 
and that having reflective clothes makes you more visible to traffic.  He thanked YKHC 
Dept. of Environmental Health for addressing this issue by making reflectors available 
at the Carnival this coming Friday.  Reflectors for safety are also available at the Fire 
Department. 
 
Council Member Mark Springer –  
Thanked those who supported KYUK during their fund raiser.  
Congratulated Peter Twitchell in his retirement from his broadcasting career.  
 
Council Member Naim Shabani –  
No comment.  
 
Council Member Thor Williams–  
No comment.  
 
Council Member Mitchell Forbes– 
Thanked YKHC Diabetes Prevention and Control Department for their attendance at 
tonight’s meeting and encouraged people to take note of their events.  
 

XV. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

10



7 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 24, 2017 

Item A– In Accordance With AS 44.62.310 C 1 Matters, The Immediate Knowledge Of 
Which Would Clearly Have An Adverse Effect Upon The Finances Of The Public Entity- 
Union Negotiations. 

 

Main Motion: 

Move into Executive Session- 

In Accordance With AS 44.62.310 C 1 Matters, The Immediate Knowledge Of Which 
Would Clearly Have An Adverse Effect Upon The Finances Of The Public Entity- 

Union Negotiations. Those attending Item “A” were: City Council, City Attorney, City 
Manager and City Clerk. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
Mayor Richard Robb arrived at 8:27p.m. He departed the meeting at 9:00p.m. 
 

XVI. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Main Motion: Adjournment. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Williams  
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
Council adjourned at 9:05 P.M. 
 
 
 

 
 
_________________________ 
Fred Watson, Vice-Mayor  

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk   

11



1 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  November 9, 2017 

Special Meeting 
November 9, 2017 

 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER   

 
A Special Meeting of the Bethel City Council was held on November 9, 2017 at 6:30 
p.m., in the council chambers, Bethel, Alaska. 
 
Mayor Richard Robb called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.  

 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
III. ROLL CALL 

 

 
IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD   

 
Ann Kosacheff- Challenged the recipient of the new package store license to require 
one of their staff members to volunteer for the Bethel Fire Department and requested 
the Council to consider making this a requirement for all liquor license owners.  
 
Jeremy Osborne – Spoke in opposition to the issuance of the package store license. 
Brought up concerns related to the abundance of glass in the areas of the park now 
which was not the case prior. 
 
Ray Watson, President of the Association of Village Council Presidents, brought up 
concerns related to alcohol sales in the community and the surrounding region.  
Requested the City establish an Alcohol Task Force to address the alcohol issues.   

          City Council Meeting  
       City of Bethel, Alaska 

Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following members were present: 

Mayor Rick Robb Council Member Mark Springer 

Vice-Mayor Fred Watson Council Member Mitchell Forbes   

Council Member Leif Albertson Council Member Thor Williams (Arrived after roll call at 6:44p.m.)  

Members Absent:   

Council Member Naim Shabani  

 Also in attendance were the following: 

City Manager Pete Williams City Clerk Lori Strickler 

City Attorney Patty Burley  

12



2 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  November 9, 2017 

 
Vivian Korthias, Chief Executive Officer of Association of Village Council Presidents, 
brought up concerns related to alcohol sales in the community and surrounding 
region. Requested the City establish an Alcohol Task Force to address the alcohol 
issues.   
 
Cezary Maczynski- Agreed that the alcohol sales in Bethel is a concern, and it has 
always been a concern. We need to work on a solution, not prevent legal sales. 
Brought up additional concerns related to the accessibility of the Alaska Commercial 
Company proposed property and the ingress and egress to the parking lot.  
 
Council Member Williams arrived at 6:44p.m. 
 
Adrian Wagner- Stated there is an economic concern that hasn’t been addressed. The 
money earned, if Alaska Commercial Company is issued a package store license, 
wouldn’t be kept here in the community.  
 
Peggy Nerby Crow- As a property owner near the proposed location, it will provide 
significant safety concerns to her and her family.  
 
Arvin Dull- The City Bus stop is right in the area of the proposed package store 
location; this is a safety concern.  
 
Jim Crow- Stated concerns with the drug issue more so than the alcohol issue. This is 
effecting the children of our community.  
 
 

V. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 

Main Motion: Approve the Consent and Regular Agenda.  

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Forbes 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Watson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
VI. NEW BUSINESS 

 
Item A- Rescind or Amend Something Previously Adopted: 

Resolution 17-05: City of Bethel protest of package store liquor license #5544 for ACC 
Liquor Store, located at 1110 Bridge Avenue, unit No. 1 Owned by the North West 
Company (International) Inc. 
 

13



3 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  November 9, 2017 

Main Motion: 

Suspend the rules to provide North West Company, Chief of Police, and a 
representative from the Planning commission an opportunity to respond to questions 

from Council.  

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Forbes  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-1 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Watson   Springer   Forbes 

Opposed:  Williams   

 
Privileged Motion Motion to Adjourn. 

Moved by: Williams 
Seconded by: Springer 

Action: Motion does not carry by a vote of 2-4 

In favor:  Springer   Williams   

Opposed:  Robb   Albertson   Watson   Forbes 
 

 
Main Motion: Strike the 5th Whereas statement.   

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Forbes 
Action:   Motion does not carry by a vote of 0-6 

In favor: 0 

Opposed:  Robb   Albertson   Watson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 
 

 

The City of Bethel provided Alaska Commercial Company (ACC) Package Store License 
an opportunity to defend their license.  
 
Walt Pickett, Vice President of Operations addressed the Council and provided 
answers to Council’s questions.  
 
Chief of Police, Burk Waldron addressed the Council. 

 
Primary 

Amendment: Adjournment 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Williams  
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Watson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 
 

 
Council adjourned at 7:32pm 

 
_________________________ 
Richard Robb, Mayor  

ATTEST: 
_______________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk   

14



 

Reports of Standing Committees  
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15



 

ENERGY COMMITTEE AGENDA 
Regular Meeting 
Monday, November 20, 2017  6:00 pm 
City Hall Council Chambers, Bethel, AK 

  

 

Agenda posted at City Hall, AC Quickstop, Post Office, AC Co., and Swanson’s.   
  

 

 

 
Members 

 
Vacant 

Chair 
 
Shari Neth 

Vice-Chair 
Shari_neth@lksd.org 
 

Richard Robb 
Council Representative 
rrobb@cityofbethel.net  
 

Jeff Sanders 

Jeefco2004@yahoo.com 
 

Juan Delgado 
Juandel@gci.net 

 

Alternative Members: 
 

Need Two 
 

Ex-Officio Member 
 

Grant Kemp 

Recorder 
543-3110 

gkemp@cityofbethel.net 
 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER  

 
II. ROLL CALL  

 
III. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD – Fifteen minutes per person 

 
IV. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 
V. OLD BUSINESS 

a. Alternative Energy Report Update 
 

VI. NEW BUSINESS 
a. Election of new Committee Chair 
b. Energy Ideas 

 
VII. COMMITTEE MEMBER COMMENTS 

 
VIII. ADJOURNMENT  
  

  

16



17



 

 

Planning Commission                               City of Bethel, Alaska 
                                           11-09-2017 

  

City of Bethel, Alaska 

Planning Commission 
November 9, 2017 Regular  Meeting Bethel, Alaska 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER:  

A regular meeting of the Planning Commission was held on November 9,2017 at 
6:30 pm in the City of Bethel Conference Room in Bethel, Alaska.  Co-Chair Lorin 
Bradbury called the meeting to order at 6:32 PM. 

 
II.  ROLL CALL:  

Compromising a quorum of the Commission, the following members were present 
for roll call: Lorin Bradbury, John Guinn, Jon Cochrane, Alex Wasierski, Shadi Rabi, 
and Council Representative Thor Williams.   

 
Excused Absence: Kathy Hanson 
Unexcused Absence: Cliff Linderoth 

 
Also present: Recorder Pauline Boratko. City Planner, Betsy Jumper was attending 
the Special City Council Meeting. 

 
III. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD:  No one wished to be heard 
 
IV. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA: 

MOVED: Jon Cochrane Motion to approve the agenda and add item A.)  
Cancel December’s Meeting due to holiday travel and 
schedules. 
 

SECONDED: 
John Guinn 

VOTE ON 
MOTION 

Unanimous  

 
 
V. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES: 

MOVED: John Guinn Motion to approve the October 12th, 2017 meeting 
minutes 
 

SECONDED: 
Jon Cochrane 

VOTE ON 
MOTION 

Unanimous 

 

MOVED: Jon Cochrane Motion to approve the October 19th, 2017 Special 
meeting minutes 
 

SECONDED: 
John Guinn 

VOTE ON 
MOTION 

Unanimous  

 
VI. NEW BUSINESS  

18



 

 

Planning Commission                               City of Bethel, Alaska 
                                           11-09-2017 

  

A. December Meeting Cancellation: 

MOVED: Jon Cochrane Motion to cancel the December 14th Planning 
Commission Meeting 
 

SECONDED: 
John Guinn 

VOTE ON 
MOTION 

Unanimous  

 
 

VII. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD:  
 

VII. PLANNER’S REPORT: Pauline Boratko gave the report and conversed with 
commissioners. 
 

VIII. COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS: 
 L. Bradbury- no comment.  
 M. Springer- no comment. 
 A. Wasierski-no comment. 
 J. Guinn- no comment. 
 J. Cochrane- no comment. 
 T. Williams- Happy Veteran’s Day. 
 

IX. ADJOURNMENT:       

MOVED: John Guinn Motion to adjourn the meeting. 
 SECONDED: Thor Williams 

VOTE ON 
MOTION 

Unanimous 

 
With no further business the meeting adjourned at 6:42pm 
 
APPROVED THIS _____ DAY OF __________, 2017  
   
 
________________________________   _____________________________ 
ATTEST: Pauline Boratko, Recorder    Lorin Bradbury, Co- Chair 

19



 
Planning Commission Meeting Agenda 

Regular Scheduled Meeting Thursday, November 12, 2017– 6:30PM 
CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 300 CHIEF EDDIE HOFFMAN HIGHWAY 

 
 

  
Posted November 3, 2017 at City Hall, Post Office, Bethel Native Corp. and Swanson’s Grocery Store 
Bulletin Boards 

 

MEMBERS 
 

Kathy Hanson 
Chair 
Term Expires 12/2018 
 
Lorin Bradbury 
Vice-Chair 
Term Expires 12/2017 
 
John Guinn 
Commission Member 
Term Expires 12/2019 
 
Cliff Linderoth 
Commission Member 
Term Expires 12/2017  
  
Jon Cochrane 
Commission Member 
Term Expires 12/2018 
 
Alex Wasierski 
Commission Member 
Term Expires 12/18 
 
Shadi Rabi 
Alternate Member 
Term Expires 12/19 
 
Thor Williams  
Council Representative  
Term Expires 10/19 
 
Betsy Jumper 
Ex-Officio Member 
 
Pauline Boratko 
Recorder 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER  
 
II. ROLL CALL 

  
III.  PEOPLE TO BE HEARD – (5 Minute Limit)  

 
IV.  APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES FROM THE OCTOBER 12TH   REGULAR 

MEETING AND SPECIAL MEETING ON OCTOBER 19TH  
 

V. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 

VI. NEW BUSINESS 
 
VII. PLANNER’S REPORT 

 
VIII. COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS 

 
IX. ADJOURNMENT  

 

20



21



 
Planning Commission Meeting Agenda 

Regular Scheduled Meeting Thursday, November 09, 2017– 6:30PM 
CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 300 CHIEF EDDIE HOFFMAN HIGHWAY 

 
 

  
Posted November 3, 2017 at City Hall, Post Office, Bethel Native Corp. and Swanson’s Grocery Store 
Bulletin Boards 

 

MEMBERS 
 

Kathy Hanson 
Chair 
Term Expires 12/2018 
 
Lorin Bradbury 
Vice-Chair 
Term Expires 12/2017 
 
John Guinn 
Commission Member 
Term Expires 12/2019 
 
Cliff Linderoth 
Commission Member 
Term Expires 12/2017  
  
Jon Cochrane 
Commission Member 
Term Expires 12/2018 
 
Alex Wasierski 
Commission Member 
Term Expires 12/18 
 
Shadi Rabi 
Alternate Member 
Term Expires 12/19 
 
Thor Williams  
Council Representative  
Term Expires 10/19 
 
Betsy Jumper 
Ex-Officio Member 
 
Pauline Boratko 
Recorder 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER  
 
II. ROLL CALL 

  
III.  PEOPLE TO BE HEARD – (5 Minute Limit)  

 
IV.  APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES FROM THE OCTOBER 12TH   REGULAR 

MEETING AND SPECIAL MEETING ON OCTOBER 19TH  
 

V. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 

VI. NEW BUSINESS 
 
VII. PLANNER’S REPORT 

 
VIII. COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS 

 
IX. ADJOURNMENT  

 

22



 

 
Planning Commission                               City of Bethel, Alaska 
                                           10-12-2017 
  

City of Bethel, Alaska 
Planning Commission 
October 12, 2017 Regular  Meeting Bethel, Alaska 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER:  

A regular meeting of the Planning Commission was held on    October 12, 2017 at 
6:30 pm in the City of Bethel Council Chambers room, in Bethel, Alaska.  Chair 
Hanson called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM. 

 
II.  ROLL CALL:  

Compromising a quorum of the Commission, the following members were present 
for roll call:  Kathy Hanson, John Guinn, Cliff Linderoth, Jon Cochrane, Alex 
Wasierski, Lorin Bradbury, and Council Representative Mark Springer arrived late at 
7:02pm.  Also present was the City Planner Betsy Jumper, and Recorder Pauline 
Boratko. 

 
III. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD:  No one wished to be heard 
 
IV. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA: 
MOVED: John Guinn Motion to approve the agenda. 

 SECONDED: Jon Cochrane 
VOTE ON 
MOTION All in Favor 6 yes and 0 opposed. 

 
 
V. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES: 
MOVED: John Guinn Motion to approve the September 14, 2017 meeting 

minutes 
 

SECONDED: Jon Cochrane 

VOTE ON 
MOTION All in Favor 6 yes and 0 opposed. 

 
 
VI.  NEW BUSINESS  
 

A.  PUBLIC HEARING: PUBLIC HEARING:  Applicant:  The Northwest Company, doing 
business as Alaska Commercial Company is applying for a Conditional Use Permit in 
order to open a Package Liquor Store.  The legal description is lots 12 & 13 of United 
States Survey 3230 A/B in the Bethel Recording District.  The physical address is 1110 
Bridge Street Unit No. 1 

 
Chair Hanson opened the Public Hearing and how the hearing proceedings would 
operate. 
 

23



 

 
Planning Commission                               City of Bethel, Alaska 
                                           10-12-2017 
  

Betsy went over the facts findings and gave her presentation.  The Planning 
Commissioner’s asked questions. 
 

PEOPLE TO BE HEARD:  
Arvin Dull- asked questions of the plan concerning traffic intersections.  

 
MOVED: Jon Cochrane Motion to approve the conditional use permit with 

the conditions of a (1) land use lease with the Vitus 
Gas station approved by the City Planner, (2) and 
barricades to direct traffic.  
 

SECONDED: John Guinn 

VOTE ON MOTION Independently Mark Springer recused himself 
All in favor 
5 yes and 0 opposed.  

 
B. PUBLIC HEARING:  Amending the Official Land Use Map of the City of Bethel.  Applicant:  

The City of Bethel.  Site Location applied for:  Legal Description is Lot 1A and Lot 2, 
Block 1, of the Courthouse Subdivision, plat number 2006-25 and plat 99-12.  The 
physical address is 204 Chief Eddie Hoffman Highway (The Nora Guinn Courthouse) and 
350 Chief Eddie Hoffman Highway (City Hall).  The purpose of this action is to allow for 
multiple uses of the land that is afforded other properties in the area.  
  

MOVED: Lorin Bradbury Motion to approve the amendment of the Official 
Land Use Map of the City of Bethel.  SECONDED: Jon Cochrane 

VOTE ON 
MOTION All in Favor 6 yes and 0 opposed. 

 
VI. PLANNER’S REPORT: Betsy went over the monthly planning report.  

 
VII. COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS: 
K. Hanson-no comment. 
L. Bradbury- I’m glad Betsy is the new planner and Pauline the assistant.  
M. Springer- no comment. 
A. Wasierski-no comment. 
J. Cochrane- no comment. 
J. Guinn- no comment. 
C. Linderoff- Wanted to know when his term was up.  
 
VIII. ADJOURNMENT:       
MOVED: Jon Cochrane Motion to adjourn the meeting.   

 SECONDED: John Guinn 
VOTE ON 
MOTION 

6 yes and 0 opposed. 

 
With no further business the meeting adjourned at 7:52pm 
APPROVED THIS _____ DAY OF __________, 2017  
   
________________________________   _____________________________ 

24



 

 
Planning Commission                               City of Bethel, Alaska 
                                           10-12-2017 
  

ATTEST: Pauline Boratko, Recorder    Kathy Hanson, Chair 

25



 

 
Planning Commission Minutes                                                                            City of Bethel, Alaska 
                                                                                                                                   10/19/2017 
          

City of Bethel, Alaska 
Planning Commission 
October 19, 2017 Special  Meeting Bethel, Alaska 

I.  CALL TO ORDER 
A special meeting of the Planning Commission was held October 19, 2019 at 6:30 pm in the City 
of Bethel Council Chambers room, in Bethel, Alaska.  Chair Hanson called the meeting to order 
at 6:31 pm. 

 
II. ROLL CALL 
Compromising a quorum of the commission, the following were present for roll call: Kathy 
Hanson, Alex Wasierski, Shadi Rabi, John Guinn, and Thor Williams arrived at 6:34 pm.  
 
Also present: 
Betsy Jumper, Exofficio Member 
Pauline Boratko, Recorder 
Robin Reich, Solstice Alaska employee via teleconference 
 
III. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD: no people wished to be heard. 
 
VI.  NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Alaska Villages Cooperative, Inc. (AVEC) Site Plan Application for Groundwork Only for 
the Bethel Wind Project. Robin Reich addressed the commission. 
 

MOVED: John Guinn Motion to approve the AVEC Site Plan Application for 
ground work only.  SECONDED: Alex Wasierski 

VOTE ON 
MOTION unanimous  

 
 
XI. ADJOURNMENT: 

MOVED: John Guinn Motion to adjourn the meeting.  
 SECONDED: Thor Williams 

VOTE ON 
MOTION unanamous 

 
With no further business, meeting adjourned at 6:38pm 
 
 
APPROVED THIS _____ DAY OF __________, 2017   
 
ATTEST:_________________________  ____________________________ 
Pauline Boratko, Recorder    Kathy Hanson, Chair 
 
 

26



 

 

Planning Commission Minutes                                                                            City of Bethel, Alaska 
                                                                                                                                   10/19/2017 

          

City of Bethel, Alaska 

Planning Commission 
October 19, 2017 Special  Meeting Bethel, Alaska 

I.  CALL TO ORDER 
A special meeting of the Planning Commission was held October 19, 2019 at 6:30 pm in the City 
of Bethel Council Chambers room, in Bethel, Alaska.  Chair Hanson called the meeting to order 
at 6:31 pm. 

 
II. ROLL CALL 
Compromising a quorum of the commission, the following were present for roll call: Kathy 
Hanson, Alex Wasierski, Shadi Rabi, John Guinn, and Thor Williams arrived at 6:34 pm.  
 
Also present: 
Betsy Jumper, Exofficio Member 
Pauline Boratko, Recorder 
Robin Reich, Solstice Alaska employee via teleconference 
 
III. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD: no people wished to be heard. 
 
VI.  NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Alaska Villages Cooperative, Inc. (AVEC) Site Plan Application for Groundwork Only for 
the Bethel Wind Project. Robin Reich addressed the commission. 
 

MOVED: John Guinn Motion to approve the AVEC Site Plan Application for 
ground work only.  SECONDED: Alex Wasierski 

VOTE ON 
MOTION 

unanimous  

 
 
XI. ADJOURNMENT: 

MOVED: John Guinn Motion to adjourn the meeting.  
 SECONDED: Thor Williams 

VOTE ON 
MOTION 

unanamous 

 
With no further business, meeting adjourned at 6:38pm 
 
 
APPROVED THIS _____ DAY OF __________, 2017   
 
ATTEST:_________________________  ____________________________ 
Pauline Boratko, Recorder    Kathy Hanson, Chair 
 
 

27



 

 

Public Works Committee Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 18, 2017 

City of Bethel, Alaska 

Public Works Committee Minutes 
October 18, 2017 Regular Meeting Bethel, Alaska 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER: 
Due to the lack of quorum there was no regular meeting held on October 18, 2017 
 
II. ROLL CALL: 
The following were present: Jennifer Dobson, Robert Champagne, and Fred Watson 
 
Excused absence(s): Joseph Klejka 
Unexcused absent: Scott Guinn 
 
Also Present:  
Committee Recorder, Grant Kemp and Pauline Boratko 
 
Meeting adjourned at 5:45 pm due to lack of quorum.  
 
 
APPROVED THIS ______ DAY OF _____________, 2017.  
 
 
 
__________________________    ________________________ 
Grant Kemp         Jennifer Dobson 
Recorder of Minutes      Vice-Chair 

28



 

 

Planning Commission                               City of Bethel, Alaska 
                                           10-12-2017 

  

City of Bethel, Alaska 

Planning Commission 
October 12, 2017 Regular  Meeting Bethel, Alaska 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER:  

A regular meeting of the Planning Commission was held on    October 12, 2017 at 
6:30 pm in the City of Bethel Council Chambers room, in Bethel, Alaska.  Chair 
Hanson called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM. 

 
II.  ROLL CALL:  

Compromising a quorum of the Commission, the following members were present 
for roll call:  Kathy Hanson, John Guinn, Cliff Linderoth, Jon Cochrane, Alex 
Wasierski, Lorin Bradbury, and Council Representative Mark Springer arrived late at 
7:02pm.  Also present was the City Planner Betsy Jumper, and Recorder Pauline 
Boratko. 

 
III. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD:  No one wished to be heard 
 
IV. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA: 

MOVED: John Guinn Motion to approve the agenda. 
 SECONDED: Jon Cochrane 

VOTE ON 
MOTION 

All in Favor 6 yes and 0 opposed. 

 
 
V. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES: 

MOVED: John Guinn Motion to approve the September 14, 2017 meeting 
minutes 
 

SECONDED: 
Jon Cochrane 

VOTE ON 
MOTION 

All in Favor 6 yes and 0 opposed. 

 
 
VI.  NEW BUSINESS  
 

A.  PUBLIC HEARING: PUBLIC HEARING:  Applicant:  The Northwest Company, doing 
business as Alaska Commercial Company is applying for a Conditional Use Permit in 
order to open a Package Liquor Store.  The legal description is lots 12 & 13 of United 
States Survey 3230 A/B in the Bethel Recording District.  The physical address is 1110 
Bridge Street Unit No. 1 

 
Chair Hanson opened the Public Hearing and how the hearing proceedings would 
operate. 
 

29



 

 

Planning Commission                               City of Bethel, Alaska 
                                           10-12-2017 

  

Betsy went over the facts findings and gave her presentation.  The Planning 
Commissioner’s asked questions. 
 

PEOPLE TO BE HEARD:  
Arvin Dull- asked questions of the plan concerning traffic intersections.  

 

MOVED: Jon Cochrane Motion to approve the conditional use permit with 
the conditions of a (1) land use lease with the Vitus 
Gas station approved by the City Planner, (2) and 
barricades to direct traffic.  
 

SECONDED: John Guinn 

VOTE ON MOTION Independently Mark Springer recused himself 
All in favor 

5 yes and 0 opposed.  
 

B. PUBLIC HEARING:  Amending the Official Land Use Map of the City of Bethel.  Applicant:  
The City of Bethel.  Site Location applied for:  Legal Description is Lot 1A and Lot 2, 
Block 1, of the Courthouse Subdivision, plat number 2006-25 and plat 99-12.  The 
physical address is 204 Chief Eddie Hoffman Highway (The Nora Guinn Courthouse) and 
350 Chief Eddie Hoffman Highway (City Hall).  The purpose of this action is to allow for 
multiple uses of the land that is afforded other properties in the area.  
  

MOVED: Lorin Bradbury Motion to approve the amendment of the Official 
Land Use Map of the City of Bethel.  SECONDED: Jon Cochrane 

VOTE ON 
MOTION 

All in Favor 6 yes and 0 opposed. 

 
VI. PLANNER’S REPORT: Betsy went over the monthly planning report.  

 
VII. COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS: 
K. Hanson-no comment. 
L. Bradbury- I’m glad Betsy is the new planner and Pauline the assistant.  
M. Springer- no comment. 
A. Wasierski-no comment. 
J. Cochrane- no comment. 
J. Guinn- no comment. 
C. Linderoff- Wanted to know when his term was up.  
 
VIII. ADJOURNMENT:       

MOVED: Jon Cochrane Motion to adjourn the meeting.   
 SECONDED: John Guinn 

VOTE ON 
MOTION 

6 yes and 0 opposed. 

 
With no further business the meeting adjourned at 7:52pm 
APPROVED THIS _____ DAY OF __________, 2017  
   
________________________________   _____________________________ 

30



 

 

Planning Commission                               City of Bethel, Alaska 
                                           10-12-2017 

  

ATTEST: Pauline Boratko, Recorder    Kathy Hanson, Chair 

31



 

Special Order of Business 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

32



 

Unfinished Business  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

33



Introduced by: Council Member Shabani 
Introduction Date: October 24, 2017 (postponed) 

November 28, 2017 
Public Hearing 

Date: 

Action: 

Vote: 

City of Bethel, Alaska Ordinance 17-46 
Page 1 of 7 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 

Ordinance #17-46 

AMENDING THE BETHEL MUNICIPAL CODE  
CHAPTER 4.16.160 TAX EXEMPTIONS RENTAL UNITS 

TAX EXEMPTION ON FUEL AND ELECTRICITY 

Now, Therefore Be It enacted by the City Council of Bethel Alaska as follows: 

Section 1.  Classification.  This ordinance is of permanent nature and shall be 
codified within the Bethel Municipal Code. 

Section 2.  Amendment: Bethel Municipal Code 4.16.160 is amended, new language 
is underlined, removed language is stricken. 

4.16.160  Tax Exemptions 
The following sales and services are exempt from the tax levied under this chapter 

only in accordance with the limitations provided for in this section: 
A. Admissions: Sales of admission to school entertainments, school athletic events, and 

events conducted for the benefit of charitable or community organizations.  This 
exemption does not apply to sales of gaming property. 

B. ATVs/Boats:  That portion of the selling price of an all-terrain vehicle (ATV), snow 
machine, boat, or boat motor in excess of Three Thousand Five Hundred ($3,500) 
Dollars is exempt regardless of whether or not such items are purchased 
simultaneously, or are invoiced or otherwise billed on the same billing document.   

C. Banking: The following fees, sales and services charged by banks, savings and loan 
associations, credit unions and investment banks: 
1. Fees for the sale, exchange or transfer of currency, stocks, bonds and other

securities
2. Loans: The principal amount of the loan, the interest charged for loaning of

money, and escrow collection services, and any fees associated with the loaning
of money are exempt.

3. Services associated with the sale, exchange or transfer of currency, stocks,
bonds and other securities;

4. Pass-through charges on loan transactions which include sales tax;
5. Sale of insurance policies, bonds of guaranty and fidelity (AS 21.09.210).

D. Casual and isolated sales, services or rentals: Proceeds from casual, occasional or 
isolated sales which are easily identified as the sale of personal goods or property at 
such private functions as moving, garage, yard, food and bake sales, sale of private 

34



Introduced by: Council Member Shabani 
Introduction Date: October 24, 2017 (postponed) 

November 28, 2017 
Public Hearing 

Date:  

 

Action:   
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-46 
  Page 2 of 7 

vehicles when the seller is not a dealer in used vehicles, or services such as 
babysitting or house-sitting provided the seller does not regularly engage in the 
business of selling such goods or services or rentals but only if:  
1. The sales of goods and services do not occur for more than five (5) days in a 

calendar year, and are not made through a dealer, broker, agent or consignee; 
or 

2. The rental of personal tangible property that does not exceed sixty (60) days in a 
calendar year, whether or not consecutive.  The rental of real estate is not 
exempt. 

3. Sales or rentals made pursuant to a business license or by sellers representing 
themselves to be in the business of making sure sales, rentals or services are not 
exempt.   

E. Cemetery Plots: The sale of cemetery/burial plots is exempt.   
F. Commerce: Freight and wharfage charges, whether arising out of foreign, interstate 

or intrastate commerce are exempt. Warehouse and storage services are not 
exempt. Transportation of goods, equipment, or other property from one point to 
another within the City limits by commercial movers is not exempt. 

G. Compliance with Laws:  
1. Gross receipts or proceeds derived from sales or services which the City is 

prohibited from taxing under the laws of the state or under the laws and the 
Constitution of the United States, including, but not limited to: 
a. Sales by the U.S. Postal Service; 
b. Purchases made under the authority of or made with any type of certificate 

issued pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Sections 1771-1789 (Child Nutrition Act of 
1966); 

c. Interstate Sales; 
d. Air transportation including that portion of any chartered fishing or hunting 

expedition which covers the cost of air transportation; 
e. Gross receipts or proceeds derived from sales to the United States 

Government, the state, a city or any political department thereof. However, 
the exemption shall not apply to the sale of materials and supplies to 
contractors for the manufacture or production of property or rendering 
services for sale to such government units or agencies on a contract bid 
award, in which event the contractor shall be deemed the buyer, subject to 
the payment of the tax; 

2. A sale or rental to an employee of the state, its political subdivisions, or the 
federal government is only exempt when the government employee provides 
proof that the sale is for government business by paying for the sale with a 
government voucher, purchase order, check, credit card, or warrant, or providing 
other verifiable documentation to the seller to allow the seller to readily 
determine that the sale is for government business; 

35



Introduced by: Council Member Shabani 
Introduction Date: October 24, 2017 (postponed) 

November 28, 2017 
Public Hearing 

Date:  

 

Action:   
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-46 
  Page 3 of 7 

3. A sale or rental to a federally recognized tribe when the Tribal employee provides 
proof that the sale is for tribal government business by paying for the sale with a 
tribal voucher, purchase order, check, credit card, or warrant, or providing other 
verifiable documentation to the seller to allow the seller to readily determine that 
the sale is for tribal government business; 

H. Credit Unions: Sales to or by federally chartered credit unions or credit unions 
organized under AS 06.45; 

I. Dues: Dues or fees paid to clubs, labor unions and other organizations solely for the 
privilege of membership; 

J. Freight and Wharfage:  Freight and wharfage charges, whether arising out of 
foreign, interstate or intrastate commerce, are exempt.  Warehouse, storage 
services, and delivery services that begin and end within the City of Bethel are 
taxable, unless such delivery services are included in a through bill of lading in 
conjunction with interstate commerce.   

K. Maximum Tax:  That portion of the selling price for a single piece of equipment or 
tangible personal property by an individual unit price in excess of Ten Thousand 
($10,000) Dollars is exempt.  A single sales unit is any retail merchandise sale where 
the selling price is totaled on one invoice or on any sales slip, although this 
exemption does not apply if any portion of the invoice or sales slip refers to more 
than one calendar day. 

L. Medical Services:  
1. Services of a person licensed or certified by the State of Alaska as a doctor of 

medicine and surgery, a doctor of osteopath and surgery, a chiropractor, a 
dentist, an optometrist, an audiologist, a hospital, an occupational therapist, a 
physical therapist or a licensed or practical nurse; provided, that the service is 
within the scope of the state license or certificate; 

2. Services of a person licensed or certified by the State of Alaska as a psychologist 
or psychological associate, a clinical social worker, an alcohol or drug counselor, 
or a marital and family therapist or a licensed professional councilor; provided, 
that the service is within the scope of the state license or certificate; 

3. Fees for supplies, equipment and services provided by a hospital, medical clinic 
or dental clinic for patient treatment, including laboratory and x-ray services; 

4. Assisted living services provided in accordance with an assisted living plan and in 
an assisted living home licensed as such by the State; 

5. Gross receipts or proceeds of the retail sale of prescription drugs;   
6. Services rendered by masseurs, even those working for a hospital, chiropractor 

or other medical provider, are not exempt.   
M. Newspapers: Sales of newspapers are exempt.  
N. Non-Profits:  A sale of goods or services to any entity that, at the time of the sale, 

is: (1) legally constituted and legitimately acting in accordance with a duly 
authorized federal tax exempt status pursuant to IRS Regulations, Section 
501(c)(3)(4) or (19); (2) provided any income from the exempt sale is exempt from 

36



Introduced by: Council Member Shabani 
Introduction Date: October 24, 2017 (postponed) 

November 28, 2017 
Public Hearing 

Date:  

 

Action:   
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-46 
  Page 4 of 7 

federal taxation and (3) provided the non-profit produces a sales tax exemption 
card.   

Exceptions:  Activities provided by the entity where such organization is engaged 
in business for profit or is competing with other persons engaged in the same 
manner or in a similar business is not exempt.   

O. Public Assistance: Purchases made with food coupons, food stamps, or other type of 
certificate issued under 7 USC Sections 2011 – 2025 (Food Stamp Act) or other 
certificates issued under 42 U.S.C 1786 (Special Supplemental Food Program for 
Women, Infants and Children). 

P. Real Estate Sales:  
Only the first twenty (20%) percent of the sale price of real property is subject to 

City sales tax*.   
 
Example:  Home selling for $275,000 
   $275,000 x 20% = $55,000 (first 20% of the sale price) 
   $55,000 x 6% (Sales Tax) = $3,300 Sales Tax due to city  
 
  Home selling for $450,000 
   $450,000 x 20% = $90,000 (first 20% of the sale price) 
   $90,000 x 6% = $5,400 Sales Tax due to City 
 
*This exemption does not apply to rentals of real property. This exemption applies 

to all sales of real property, including casual and isolated sales 
Q. Recreational Vehicles: That portion of the selling price of an all-terrain vehicle (ATV), 

snow machine, boat, or boat motor in excess of three thousand five hundred dollars 
($3,500) is exempt regardless of whether or not such items are purchased 
simultaneously, or are invoiced or otherwise billed on the same billing document. 

R. Rental Units Utilities: Costs incurred by owners/landlords for rental units, such as 
included utilities, fuel, or any other expenses, are not exempt. Are exempt only if:  

1.  The lease agreement states heating fuel and electricity are included in 
the monthly rental rate;   

2. The bills for these utilities are in the landlord’s name; and 
3. An exemption certificate in the landlord’s name is provided to the utility at 

the time of purchase.  
S. Retail Sales of Foods:  Are exempt in the following circumstances: 

1. When served in cafeterias or lunchrooms of elementary, secondary, post-
secondary schools, colleges or universities which are operated primarily for 
students and staff, and are not operated for the public or for profit; 

2. When served to clients and staff, and not to the public or for profit, as part of 
services provided by a nonprofit hospital or other nonprofit government 
organization licensed by the State of Alaska for the care of humans; 

37



Introduced by: Council Member Shabani 
Introduction Date: October 24, 2017 (postponed) 

November 28, 2017 
Public Hearing 

Date:  

 

Action:   
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-46 
  Page 5 of 7 

3. Meals delivered by a nonprofit organization to handicapped or senior citizens at 
their place of residence or meals served on the premises of a nonprofit to senior 
citizens or the homeless or disadvantaged provided that the sale price of such 
meals does not exceed the cost of delivery or service of such meals; 

T. Sales to Retailers: Are exempt only if the buyer presents to the seller a valid 
exemption card, issued by the City pursuant to this section, and  
1. The sale of goods, wares or merchandise to a retail dealer, manufacturer or 

contractor is for resale within the City as is or incorporated into a product or 
commodity to be sold by the dealer, manufacturer or contractor within the City, 
if the subsequent sale is subject to the City sales tax; and 

2. The product is an item sold as part of the reseller’s primary business and must 
be of such nature that it can be purchased by the general public in a transaction 
that is not dependent upon the purchase of another product or service. 

3. The exemption card must be for the class of activities involving the resale of the 
type of goods for which the exemption is sought.   

4. Food products that are purchased for resale must be purchased and sold as is or 
prepared in a commercial kitchen. If a purchaser buys goods for resale in 
accordance with this subsection and for personal or other use at the same time, 
only the goods that are to be sold for resale in accordance with this subsection 
shall be exempt.   

5. Supplies, services, tools, repair services, equipment or any other goods or 
services purchased to support a business but not for resale in accordance with 
this subsection are not exempt.   

U. School:  
1. Fees and charges for extracurricular activities or events promoted or undertaken 

by educational or student organizations;  
2. Sales by any student organization, parent/teacher organization or booster club 

recognized by the school or educational organization in which it operates, which 
proceeds are utilized to further the purposes for which the organization was 
formed;  

3. Sales and services by schools or other educational organizations made in the 
course of their regular functions and activities, which proceeds are utilized to 
further the purposes for which such organization was formed; 

4. Sales of food and beverages at educational lunchrooms which are operated 
primarily for staff and/or students, and which are not operated for the purpose 
of sale to the general public for profit; 

5. The service of transporting students to and from a schools in vehicles when in 
the regular course of that business. 

V. Securities: The sale of insurance and bonds of guaranty and fidelity, and the 
commission thereon (AS 21.09.210(f), 21.79.130, 21.80.130); 

38



Introduced by: Council Member Shabani 
Introduction Date: October 24, 2017 (postponed) 

November 28, 2017 
Public Hearing 

Date:  

 

Action:   
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-46 
  Page 6 of 7 

W. Senior Citizen Exemptions:  The following are exempt only if the buyer, or their 
designee, present a valid senior citizen exemption certificate and the product or 
service is intended primarily for the senior citizen holding the exemption card: 
1. The sale to a senior citizen of food intended for consumption by the senior 

citizen, his or her spouse or same sex partner living in the same household, or 
the un-emancipated minor children of either the senior citizen or his or her 
spouse or same sex partner, who live in the same household. For purposes of 
this subsection, “food” is defined in accordance with 7 USC Section 2012(g) 
(definition of “food” for purposes of the Food Stamp Act); 

2. The payment of rent by a senior citizen on a single dwelling occupied as the 
senior citizen’s primary residence and permanent place of abode.  

3. Payment for telephone, electric, water and sewer utility services by a senior 
citizen on a single dwelling occupied as the senior citizen’s primary residence and 
permanent place of abode.  

4. The payment for heating fuel used by a senior citizen for a single dwelling 
occupied as the senior citizen’s primary residence and permanent place of abode. 

5. The sale of alcohol, tobacco, bingo cards, raffle tickets, pull-tabs, other games of 
chance and/or marijuana to a senior citizen is not exempt. 

X. Services.  That portion of the selling price of a single service that exceeds $12,000.  
This amount will be adjusted in 2019 and every two (2) calendar years thereafter 
consistent with the Consumer Price Index for all urban consumers for Anchorage 
metropolitan area compiled by the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of 
Labor Statistics.  Adjustments to the amount listed will be rounded to the nearest 
$100.  For the purposes of this subsection, a single service is interrelated and 
interdependent function necessary to perform a specified action.  For the purposes 
of this subsection, a single service is an interrelated and interdependent function 
necessary to perform a specified action.  If a single service is performed over a 
period exceeding one month, the selling price must be apportioned to a monthly or 
invoice basis, whichever is more frequent, proportionate to the service performed, 
except for: 

6. a) a commission paid to an agent for negotiating the sale of real property 
(the commission is taxed at the first $12,000 of the sale regardless of the 
length of time the agent has in selling the property); or 

7. b) a written contingency fee agreement award or settlement (to be collected 
on the first $12,000 of the fee award regardless of the length of time taken to 
resolve the case). 

Y. Transportation:  
1. The following types of transportation services are exempt: 

a. The sale of services for transporting passengers by river taxi, taxicab, bus, 
commercial airline, air charter, air taxi, hover craft; or 

b. The sale of passenger seat tickets by a commercial airline is exempt; or 

39



Introduced by: Council Member Shabani 
Introduction Date: October 24, 2017 (postponed) 

November 28, 2017 
Public Hearing 

Date:  

 

Action:   
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-46 
  Page 7 of 7 

c. The service of transporting disabled or handicapped individuals when in the 
regular course of that business. 

2. The following are not exempt:    
a. The lease of vehicle for hire permits are not exempt;  
b. The portions of a sale of flight seeing or air/water/shore excursion travel or 

adventure services which are not charges for transportation of persons on a 
federal airway; 

c. The lease or rental of vehicles is not exempt. 
Z. Utilities: Payment for City water, sewer and refuse utility services by any and all 

persons or entities. 
AA. Wholesale: Proceeds from products sold as wholesale sales to businesses 

designated by the State of Alaska as wholesalers.  These include sales of goods, 
wares or merchandise to a retail dealer, manufacturer or contractor for resale within 
the City as is or incorporated into a product or commodity to be sold by the dealer, 
manufacturer or contractor within the City, if the subsequent sale is subject to the 
City sales tax.  In this connection a retailer must stock that merchandise for resale, 
display the same to the public and hold himself out as regularly engaged in the 
business of selling such products. 

 
SECTION 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective January 1, 2018. 
 
ENACTED THIS ___DAY OF December, 2017, BY A VOTE OF __ IN FAVOR AND 
__OPPOSED.  
 
ATTEST:      __________________________ 
       Richard Robb, Mayor 
 
 
________________________ 

Lori Strickler, City Clerk  
  

40



    Introduced by: City Manager, Williams 

Date: October 24, 2017 

Public Hearing:  

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Ordinance 17-47 

    1 of 2  

    

 
CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 

 

Ordinance 17-47 
 

AN ORDINANCE SUPPORTING THE AMENDMENT TO THE OFFICIAL MAP 
AND LAND USE CODE 

 
Whereas, on October 12th, 2017 the City of Bethel applied for an Amendment to the Official Map 

and Land Use Code involving Lot 1A of Plat Number 2006-25 Block 1 and Lot 2 of Plat 
Number 99-12, the Courthouse Subdivision. Physical addresses are 204 Chief Eddie 
Hoffman Highway (the Nora Guinn Courthouse) and 350 Chief Eddie Hoffman highway 
(City Hall); 

 
Whereas, the proposed Zoning Amendment would further the goals and objectives of Bethel’s 

Comprehensive Plan;  
 

Whereas, the proposed Zoning Amendment would further the goals and objectives of Bethel’s 
Comprehensive Plan; 

 
Whereas, the area allotted for the Tom Dillon Park would remain the same;  

 
Whereas, the Planning Director/Land Use Administrator for the City of Bethel has determined 

that the proposed Zoning Amendment has not been found to be in conflict with the 
provisions found in Title 18 of the Bethel Municipal Code and recommends approval 
for the resignation; 

 
Whereas, that the Planning Commission has reviewed the application for an Amendment of the 

official map and land use code and voted 6 in favor and 0 opposed to recommend that 
the proposal be presented in ordinance form to the Bethel City Council to gain 
approval.  

 
Therefore be it Ordained by the City Council of Bethel, Alaska, that: 

 
SECTION 1.  Classification.  This ordinance is general and permanent nature and shall become 
part of the Official Map and Land Use Code. 

 
Section 2.  Amendment. The zoning district regulating the above-described land is to be 
redesignated from Public Lands and Institution (PLI) to General Use (GU). 
 
Section 3.  Effective Date. This ordinance shall become effective upon immediately upon 
passage by the City Council. 

41



    Introduced by: City Manager, Williams 

Date: October 24, 2017 

Public Hearing:  

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Ordinance 17-47 

    2 of 2  

    

 
ENACTED THIS   ___ DAY OF OCTOBER 2017, BY A VOTE OF   __   IN FAVOR AND   __   

OPPOSED.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________  
Richard Robb, Mayor  

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 
 

42



 

New Business   
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

43



SUMMARY AND FISCAL NOTE 

Corresponds to Ordinance 17-48 

Corresponding Document: Ordinance 17-48 Amending Fee & Rate Schedule 

Summary Statement: 

An ordinance amending the fee and rate schedule for both planning and the police to 

reflect either increased costs to the City and often significant increased manpower.  For 

planning, the major subdivisions require review by professional engineers, as well as 

strong public comment, significant staff follow-up throughout the initial 6 months to a 

year of the process and significant legal involvement.  For the police department, the 

cost to make a body camera video legally compliant can be huge, the change simply 

passes the actual cost to the requestor. 

Originator: Planning = Betsy Jumper, Planner Police = Burke Waldron, Chief 

Reviewed Prior to Presentation 

Signature: Remarks: 

City Manager 

City Attorney 
(Compliance with law) Assisted with and reviewed 

Complies with law 

City Clerk 
(Code) 

Certification of Funds 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 

This: 
  Creates revenue in the amount of:  $ 
  Creates expenditures in the amount of: $ 
  Creates a savings in the amount of:  $ 
  Has no fiscal impact 

Funds are: 
  Budget  Line item(s) 
  Not budgeted 

Director of Finance Signature: __________________________ 

Attachment(s): 

Reviewed LS

44



Introduced by: City Manager Williams 
Introduction Date: November 28, 2017 

      Public Hearing:  December 12, 2017 
Action: 

Vote: 

City of Bethel, Alaska Ordinance 17-48 
Page 1 of 1 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 

Ordinance #17-48 

AN ORDINANCE BY THE BETHEL CITY COUNCIL AMENDING 
FEES AND CHARGES RELATED TO ALCOHOL, SUBDIVISIONS 

BE IT ORDAINED that the City Council of Bethel Alaska, 

Section 1.  Classification.  This ordinance is not permanent in nature and shall be 
not be placed within the Bethel Municipal Code. 

Section 2.  Amendment: The Fees and Charges schedule is hereby amended, new 
language is underlined and old language is stricken. 

Planning 

MAJOR SUBDIVISIONS FEES/CHARGES 

Advertising $275 

Re-Advertising Fee $325 

Revision Following Advertising $350 

Preliminary Plat Application $1,500 

Change to Future Land Use Map $800 

Variance $750 

Subdivision Agreement $1,500 

ALCOHOL APPLICATIONS FEES/CHARGES 

Conditional Use Permit For Alcohol $200 $500 

SECTION 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective upon passage by 
the Bethel City Council. 

ENACTED THIS  DAY OF DECEMBER 2017, BY A VOTE OF   IN FAVOR AND 
 OPPOSED. 

ATTEST: __________________________ 
Rick Robb, Mayor 

________________________ 

Lori Strickler, City Clerk  

45



17-28 (d)

46



47



Introduced by:

Introduction Date:

Public Hearing: December 12, 2017

Action:

Vote:

Section 1.  That the following sums of money as may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

ACCOUNT # Increases

10-66-690 CAPTIAL EXPENSE - EQUIPMENT - (1) LOAD KING LOWBOY 27,000 

10-66-690 CAPTIAL EXPENSE - EQUIPMENT - (1) CAT 950G WHEEL LOADER 16,843 

10-66-690 CAPTIAL EXPENSE - EQUIPMENT - (1) CAT 160M GRADER 6,700 

10-66-690 CAPTIAL EXPENSE - EQUIPMENT - (1) CAT 163H GRADER 34,087 

10-66-690 CAPTIAL EXPENSE - EQUIPMENT - (1) CAT D8N DOZER 28,570 

10-66-690 CAPTIAL EXPENSE - EQUIPMENT - (1) CAT 420D BACKHOE 13,256 

Total Increases 126,456 

Decreases

10-10100 CASH IN GENERAL TREASURY (126,456)

Total Decreases (126,456)

TOTAL 0 

TOTAL CHANGE TO GENERAL FUND APPROPRIATIONS

Total Increases 126,456 

Total Decreases 0 

Cumulative Change to APPROPRIATIONS 126,456 

TOTAL CHANGE TO GENERAL FUND BALANCE

Change to General Fund Revenues 0 

Change to General Fund Appropriations 126,456 

Cumulative Increase/Decrease to Fund Balance (126,456)

SOLID WASTE ENTERPRISE APPROPRIATIONS

CHANGE TO LANDFILL OPERATIONS DEPARTMENT 

ACCOUNT # Increases

50-16500 MACHINERY & EQUIPMENT - CAT TRACK LOADER 7,208 

50-16600 VEHICLES - GENERAL - (1) 2010 MACK SEMI-TRACTOR 32,000 

50-71-661 MAINTENANCE EXPENSE - COMPACTOR 2,599

Total Increases 41,807 

Decreases

10-10100 CASH IN GENERAL TREASURY (41,807)

Total Decreases (41,807)

TOTAL 0 

Peter Williams, City Manager

November 28, 2017

ORDINANCE # 17-28 (d)

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and objects of the City hereinafter specified for 

Fiscal Year 2018, July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018.

An Ordinance of the Bethel City Council Amending the Adopted Annual FY 2018 Budget

Be it Enacted by the Bethel City Council that the FY 2018 Annual Budget be amended as follows:

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

GENERAL FUND APPROPRIATIONS

CHANGE TO STREETS AND ROADS DEPARTMENT

         City of Bethel
Ordinance #

1 of 2

17-28 d

48



TOTAL CHANGE TO SOLID WASTE FUND APPROPRIATIONS

Total Increases 41,807 

Total Decreases 0 

TOTAL 41,807 

TOTAL CHANGE TO SOLID WASTE FUND BALANCE
Change to Solid Waste Fund Revenues 0 

Change to Solid Waste Fund Appropriations 41,807 

Cumulative Increase/Decrease to Fund Balance (41,807)

Change to Revenues  Increase/(Decrease) 0

Change to Appropriations  Increase/(Decrease) 168,263

These changes INCREASE↑ the overall expenditures/expenses of the City by 168,263

Section 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance becomes effective immediately upon adoption.

PASSED AND APPROVED THIS __ DAY OF DECEMBER 2017 BY A VOTE OF __ IN FAVOR AND __ OPPOSED.

ATTEST:

_____________________________

Lori Strickler, City Clerk

TOTAL CHANGE TO OVERALL CITY BUDGET

____________________________________

Richard Robb, Mayor

         City of Bethel
Ordinance #

2 of 2

17-28 d

49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



 Introduced by: Pete Williams, City Manager 
Date: November 28, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #17-20 

    1 of 6  

    

  

CITY OF BETHEL 
 

 

Resolution # 17-20 
 

CITY OF BETHEL PRIORITIES FOR THE FY 2019 
STATE OF ALASKA CAPITAL BUDGET 

 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Bethel is proactively pursuing funding strategies with Federal and 
State agencies, as well as private funding sources;  

   
WHEREAS,  the City partners with other entities, such as the local tribe, Orutsararmuit 

Native Council, to work collaboratively for residents’ needs;  
 
WHEREAS,  Bethel has had several recent community needs successfully funded by 

collaborating with Federal, State, and Tribal entities, including the Sewer 
Lagoon Rehabilitation Project and Water and Sewer truck replacement 
grants; 

 
WHEREAS,  Bethel City sales taxes and Port of Bethel dock and petro port revenues are  

used to fund the City’s operating budget and major maintenance needs; 
 
WHEREAS,  in recent years, the City of Bethel raised its water and sewer subscription 

rate fees to fund capital depreciation and to better meet basic human health 
and sanitation needs; 

 
WHEREAS, as a hub community for the 30,000 living in the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta 

region, the City of Bethel often supports projects and expenditures that 
benefit tens of thousands of Alaskans who do not reside in City limits;  

 
WHEREAS,  the Bethel City Council is a seven-member body elected by resident voters of 

Bethel to act in the best interest of the community and intends to exhibit 
transparency, oversight, and accountability for all funds awarded through 
this request; 

 
WHEREAS,  the priorities established herein are rank-ordered and vital to the well-being 

of the community and municipality of Bethel; 
 

78



 Introduced by: Pete Williams, City Manager 
Date: November 28, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #17-20 

    2 of 6  

    

WHEREAS,  a summary of the City of Bethel’s priorities and requested funding amounts 
are listed in the following table: 

 

Four Priorities Request 

1. Road Around H-Marker Lake $2,000,000 

2. Water and Sewer Trucks $3,618,098 

3. Bethel Heights A & B Loops & New Kilbuck Lift Station $17,504,390 

4. Bethel Small Boat Harbor Improvements $2,500,000 

TOTAL $25,622,488 

 
 

#1 Road Around H-Marker Lake $2,000,000 

 
WHEREAS, the community of Bethel has been severely hampered by the closure of 

Tundra Ridge Road in 2008 because it broke the circuit, causing all traffic to 
flow in a “U” pattern from the State Highway to Ptarmigan Street; 

 
WHEREAS, the City worked diligently with the State and private landowners to re-open 

the road, but after eight years, the impasse remains;  
 
WHEREAS, the community continues to suffer in terms of increased response time for 

emergency response vehicles to reach the Tundra Ridge Subdivision and 
residents of the subdivision are enduring additional time and cost to get to 
work, to the store, to the airport, and other places; 

 
WHEREAS, the City’s proposed solution is to construct a new gravel road around H-

Marker Lake that will connect the public part of Tundra Ridge Road with 
Ptarmigan Street to complete the circuit again; 

 
WHEREAS, the new road will be designed by the City’s Engineer firm and follow the 

shortest route from existing road to existing road;   
 
WHEREAS, the City of Bethel is willing and able to provide sand, heavy equipment, and 

personnel to assist in the development of the new road;  
 
WHEREAS, a new road between the State highway and Ptarmigan Street is expected to 

save lives and reduce injuries as a result of faster emergency vehicle 

79



 Introduced by: Pete Williams, City Manager 
Date: November 28, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #17-20 

    3 of 6  

    

response times, less drive time to town, lower fuel cost, and reduced vehicle 
maintenance cost; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the Bethel City Council hereby requests that the 
State of Alaska provide $2,000,000 in its FY 2019 Capital Budget to fund the 
construction of a Road Around H-Marker Lake. 

 

#2 Water and Sewer Trucks $3,618,098 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Bethel provides hauled water and sewer service to 1,318 

households six days a week throughout the year because only 424 Bethel 
buildings are on piped service; 

 
WHEREAS, approximately 3 million gallons of water are delivered each month and 2.5 

million gallons of sewage is evacuated each month; 
 
WHEREAS, the City currently owns and operates ten old Stirling brand 3,000-gallon size 

water and sewer trucks, making it extremely difficult for the City to acquire 
parts to repair the vehicles in its fleet; 

 
WHEREAS, the proliferation of Stirling trucks in use across the globe, the advent of few 

after-market parts makers, and high demand for parts have created severe 
parts shortages and if parts are unavailable, the prices are usually very 
high; 

 
WHEREAS, one City diesel mechanic and two assistants spend 130 hours of their time 

each week diagnosing problems on water and sewer trucks, searching for 
parts, and completing the repairs when possible; 

 
WHEREAS, the number of new buildings and planned subdivisions coming online in 

Bethel is adding pressure to the City’s overworked water and sewer trucks 
to make reliable deliveries; 

 
WHEREAS, in July 2017, the Measurement Standards and Commercial Vehicle 

Enforcement Division of the State Department of Transportation and Public 
Facilities, performed a site inspection of the City’ water and sewer trucks;  

 
WHEREAS, The Division discovered that the City’s trucks are overweight and out of 

compliance when filled to capacity, and have the potential to deteriorate the 
State Highway and pose a safety risk to City drivers, other motor vehicle 
operators, and pedestrians;  

80



 Introduced by: Pete Williams, City Manager 
Date: November 28, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #17-20 

    4 of 6  

    

 
WHEREAS, the City’s aged fleet of 3,000-plus-gallon trucks may only carry 2,000 

gallons, a 33% reduction, and the City’s five new 4,000-gallon trucks may 
only carry 3,000 gallons, a 25% reduction; 

  
WHEREAS, the problem is the way the trucks were configured, with too much weight 

over the axles; 
 
WHEREAS, the City investigated retrofit options and determined that the cost was not 

worth the end result in light of the fact that the trucks are so outdated;  
 
WHEREAS, the City must replace its entire fleet to be able to function at full capacity 

for the next ten years; 
 
WHEREAS, the City has an immediate need for 8 water trucks and 7 sewer trucks; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the Bethel City Council hereby requests that the 

State of Alaska provide $3,618,098 in its FY 2019 Capital Budget to fund the 
purchase of 8 water trucks and 7 sewer trucks for the City; 

 

#3 Bethel Heights A & B Loops & New Kilbuck Lift Station $17,504,390 

 
Water Loops A & B 
WHEREAS, Bethel Heights Water Loops A and B, constructed in 1977, currently serves 

250 residential and commercial customers; 
 
WHEREAS, Outermost Loop A, is approximately 20,700 linear feet, and innermost Loop 

B, is approximately 10,500 linear feet; 
 
WHEREAS, the steel water pipes are ten years past their 30-year lifespan; 
 
WHEREAS, Engineer studies reveal that interior pipe galvanization has worn off, 

causing rust to form, sediment to clog the filters of homeowners, air valve 
blockage, pipes to freeze when clogged, and brown water to be delivered to 
end users; 

 
WHEREAS, Engineers warned the City not to use its “high demand pump” to facilitate 

water flow to fire hydrants for fear that the rushing water from its use 
would cause a blow-out in the weakened pipe; 

 

81



 Introduced by: Pete Williams, City Manager 
Date: November 28, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #17-20 

    5 of 6  

    

WHEREAS, the purchase and installation of HDPE pipe to replace Loops A and B would 
solve the problems identified and last the community 50 years;  

 
Kilbuck Lift Station 
WHEREAS, the Kilbuck Lift Station, located on the corner of 5th Avenue and Main Street 

has exceeded its useful life and must be replaced; 
 
WHEREAS, the City’s Utilities Maintenance Division spends a considerable amount of 

time and money repairing the lift station every year; 
 
WHEREAS, a new lift station will cost approximately $450,000 and be able to serve 

residential and commercial customers in “The Avenues” area, when a future 
piped sewer project is installed in the subdivision; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Bethel City Council hereby requests that 
the State of Alaska provide $17,504,390 in its FY 2019 Capital Budget to fund the 
purchase of new Water Loops A and B and a new Kilbuck Lift Station; 
 

#4 Bethel Small Boat Harbor Improvements $2,500,000 

 

WHEREAS,  the City of Bethel received funding from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 
Denali Commission, and State of Alaska for improvements to the Bethel 
Small Boat Harbor over the last six years; 

WHEREAS,  three sections of bank encompassing 1,300 feet are all that are left to 
improve with webbing and gravel in order to stabilize 100% of the banks, 
thereby reducing slough-off and the need for dredging; 

WHEREAS,  several culverts are needed to improve the parking lot and road access to 
the harbor; 

WHEREAS,  the Harbor allows Bethel residents easy, convenient, and inexpensive access 
to the Kuskokwim River for subsistence harvest of fish and game, access to 
fish camps, recreational uses, commercial fishing, commercial 
birding/guiding, wood gathering, and transportation to and from villages on 
the river; 

WHEREAS, nearby villagers depend on the Harbor when they travel by boat to Bethel for 
medical appointments, vocational training, college attendance, 
conferences/workshops, government services, shopping, employment, air 
transportation to Anchorage and points beyond, and to visit friends and 
relatives; 

82



 Introduced by: Pete Williams, City Manager 
Date: November 28, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #17-20 

    6 of 6  

    

WHEREAS,  the Bethel Small Boat Harbor was officially designated a “harbor of refuge” 
by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and provides protection for small 
boaters from storms, high seas, and other natural hazards; 

WHEREAS,  great strides have been made to improve the Harbor over the last six years 
and this project represents the final bank stabilization effort needed to 
complete the Harbor; 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Bethel City Council hereby requests 
that the State of Alaska provide $25,622,488 in its FY 2019 Capital Budget to 
fund the four priority projects described herein.  

 
ENACTED THIS __ DAY OF NOVEMBER 2017 BY A VOTE OF __ IN FAVOR AND 
__ OPPOSED.  
 

 
___________________________  
Richard Robb, Mayor  

ATTEST: 
___________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 

83



SUMMARY AND FISCAL NOTE 

Corresponds to Resolution #17-21  

 

Corresponding Document: Resolution #17-21 

Summary Statement:  

For a variety of reasons, Administration may seek to actively recruit retirees from the 

public sector to serve in critical need positions. Generally, this would occur when a 

management-level position requires in-depth administrative, supervisory and leadership 

experience typical of an individual that has spent 20+ years in a corresponding 

managerial role.  

Hiring retirees can also serve to cushion the City’s budget in times of strain. Public 

sector retirees, particularly in Alaska, have personal access to retirement and health 

benefits through other sources. The City can then reduce personnel costs for these 

positions by eliminating certain benefits from the particular position. In fact, if an 

individual retires within the Public Employee Retirement System (PERS), then returns to 

service with an employer in PERS, the retiree is obligated to “suspend” their 

pension/retirement benefits and medical coverage with PERS during the period of re-

employment. The period of re-employment does not increase the individuals’ ultimate 

retirement benefit as the extra years and wages are not “pooled” with their original 

PERS benefit. 

Administration completed the required termination study to assess the financial impact 

of removing the Police Chief from the PERS system. The State’s designated actuary has 

completed the study and determined that the elimination of the City of Bethel’s Police 

Chief position will not result in any PERS termination costs.  The reason is that, because 

there is no current active member of PERS in the Police Chief position, removing that 

position from the City’s PERS Agreement will not result in an increase in PERS liabilities.  

Although the termination costs are zero, Alaska Statutes (AS) Section 39.35.625(a) 

requires the City of Bethel to contribute to the PERS system, each payroll period until 

the past service liability of PERS is extinguished (which is currently projected to be 

Fiscal Year 2040), an amount calculated by applying the current past service 

contribution rate adopted by the Alaska Retirement Management Board (ARMB) to the 

base salaries paid during the payroll period to employees in positions for which 

coverage has been terminated. 

The PERS past service contribution rate is 15.28% of pay for Fiscal Year 2018 (as 

adopted by the ARMB in September 2016) and 16.53% of pay for Fiscal Year 2019 (as 

adopted by the ARMB in October 2017). This rate is recalculated each year as part of 

the annual actuarial valuation of PERS. The ten-year average contribution rate is 

84



SUMMARY AND FISCAL NOTE 

Corresponds to Resolution #17-21 

19.29%, which is less than the 22% employer contribution required for employees 

enrolled in PERS. 

Originator: Peter Williams, City Manager 

Reviewed Prior to Presentation 

Signature: Remarks: 

City Manager 

City Attorney 
(compliance with law) 

City Clerk 
(Code) 

Certification of Funds 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 

This: 
  Creates revenue in the amount of:  $ 
  Creates expenditures in the amount of: $ 
  Creates a savings in the amount of:  $ 
  Has no fiscal impact 

Funds are: 
  Budget  Line item(s) 
  Not budgeted 

Director of Finance Signature: __________________________ 

Attachment(s): 

NoneLS

85



Introduced by: City Manager Williams 
Date: November 28, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #17-21 

    1 of 2  

    

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 
 
 

Resolution # 17-21  
 

 
A RESOLUTION BY THE BETHEL CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING THE 

ADMINISTRATION TO AMEND THE CITY OF BETHEL PUBLIC 
EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PERS) PARTICIPATION 

AGREEMENT TO EXEMPT THE POSITION OF THE POLICE CHIEF 
FROM PARTICIPATION IN PERS  

 
 
WHEREAS, the Bethel City Council (hereinafter BCC) is the Legislative body of the City of Bethel, 

Alaska;   
 
WHEREAS, the City of Bethel entered into a Public Employees’ Retirement System Participation 

Agreement with the State of Alaska on or about November 23, 1973;  
 
WHEREAS, the November 23, 1973 Agreement provided PERS coverage for certified police 

officers or those eligible for certification who have obtained permanent employee 
status;  

 
WHEREAS, the benefit to the City of Bethel of including the Police Chief in the PERS plan as a 

certified police officer was to encourage recruitment and retention into this 
leadership position;  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Bethel seeks to attract retired law enforcement professionals to 

administer the City’s Police Department;  
 
WHEREAS, the Police Chief, as a retiree from another public entity, is capable of obtaining 

retirement and medical benefits through individual retirement and medical plans;  
 
WHEREAS, providing retirement benefits is not an attractor for an individual already receiving 

retirement benefits from another source;  
 
WHEREAS, employment into a PERS participating position requires a retiree to suspend all 

retiree pension, medical or other benefits, which is a detractor to recruitment;  
 
WHEREAS, continuing contributions to the PERS unfunded liability would be offset by the 

removal of medical and retirement benefits for the Police Chief position;  
 
WHEREAS, AS 39.35.615(a) authorizes the City to amend its Participation Agreement so as to 

terminate coverage of a department, group, or other classification of employees;  
 

86



Introduced by: City Manager Williams 
Date: November 28, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #17-21 

    2 of 2  

    

 
WHEREAS, the City Manager is authorized to enter an amendment to Bethel’s current 

participation agreement with the State of Alaska Public Employees’ Retirement 
System to Exempt the Police Chief from the Alaska Public Employees Retirement 
System.  

 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the City of Bethel authorizes amendment of the Public 
Employees Retirement System Participation Agreement to exempt the Police Chief from 
participation in PERS. 
 
ENACTED THIS 28 DAY OF NOVEMBER 2017 BY A VOTE OF __ IN FAVOR AND __ 
OPPOSED. 
 

 
 

_______________________ 
Richard Robb, Mayor  

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 

87



PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
Division of Retirement and Benefits 

PO Box 110203  Juneau, AK  99811-0203 
Phone:  (907) 465-4460 

Fax: (907) 465-3086 
 
 

PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT AMENDMENT NO. ___6____ 
 

The Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) Participation Agreement entered into between  

the State of Alaska (hereafter referred to as the State) and the  City of Bethel          

on _December 1, 1973____, and approved by the State on _ December 28, 1973___ is amended 

effective _December 1, 2017__________, by changing subparagraph __2__ on page __2___ to 

read as follows: 

 
(2) The Political Subdivision agrees that: 

All eligible employees will participate in the PERS, except for those employees in the 
following departments, groups or other classifications as designated by the Political 
Subdivision:   Building Maintenance Supervisor, Utility Program Services, Senior Center 
Program Manager, Phillips Alcohol Treatment Center Counselor, Elected Officials, and 
Police Chief       
 
 
 
         
 Authorized Representative Signature 

 
         
 Authorized Representative Name (please type/print) 

 
         
 Authorized Representative’s Title 

 
 
 
Approved: 
 
   
PERS Administrator 

 
   
Date  

88



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action memorandum No.  17-71 

Date action introduced: November 28, 2017 Introduced by:   Mayor Robb 

Date action taken: 
 

          Approved                                 Denied                                           

Confirmed by:  

 

AM No. 17-71  

Re-appointment of Committee and Commission Members for a term of three years. 

Attachment(s):  None 

Amount of fiscal 
impact: 

Account information: 

None  

 

Parks, Recreation, Aquatic Health and Safety Center Committee Reappointments 

Kathryn Baldwin has submitted an application for reappointment to the PRAHS 

Committee; her term expiration is December 31, 2017. If approved for reappointment 

the new term will be from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2020. 

Michelle DeWitt has submitted an application for reappointment to the PRAHS 

Committee; her term expiration is December 31, 2017. If approved for reappointment 

the new term will be from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2020.  

Planning Commission Reappointments 

Lorin Bradbury has submitted an application for reappointment to the Planning 

Commission; his term expiration is December 31, 2017. If approved for reappointment 

the new term will be from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2020. 

 

Finance Committee Reappointments 

Jon Cochrane has submitted an application for reappointment to the Finance 

Committee; his term expiration is December 31, 2017. If approved for reappointment 

the new term will be from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2020. 

 

 

 

89



AM No. 17-72 

City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action Title: Bethel City Council Regular Meeting Dates for Calendar Year 2018. 

Attachment(s): None 

Amount of fiscal impact: Account information: 

x No fiscal impact 

Bethel City Council’s 2018 Regular Meeting Schedule

Summary Statement: 

Bethel Municipal Code requires the Council to hold their Regular Meeting on the second and 
fourth Tuesday of each month. One regular meeting must be held each month. A majority vote 
of the Council is needed to amend this regular schedule. 

Action memorandum No. 17-72 
Date action introduced: November 28, 2017 Introduced by:  Mayor Robb 

Date action taken: Approved Denied 

Confirmed by: 

Month Second Tuesday Fourth Tuesday
January 9 23 

February 13 27 

March 13 27 

April 10 24 

May 8 22 

June 12 26 

July 10 24 

August 14 28 

September 11 25 

October 9 23 

November 13 27 

December 11 

90



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action memorandum No.  17-73 

Date action introduced: November 28, 2017 Introduced by:   Mayor Robb 

Date action taken: 
 

          Approved                                 Denied                                           

Confirmed by:  

 

AM No. 17-73  

Appointment of Louise Russell to the Community Action Grant Technical Review Board for a 

term of three years.  

 

Amount of fiscal impact: Account information: 

None  

 

 

Summary Statement 

Action Memorandum 17-73 is sponsored by Mayor Robb, at the request of the City 
Clerk.  
 
Louise Russell has requested appointment to The Community Action Grant Technical 

Review Board. If appointed, she would be appointed to a term of three years as a 

regular member with a term expiration of December 31, 2019 

91



AM 17-74
November 28, 2017

of 1
AM 17-74 92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



 

Mayor’s Report  
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

100



 

City Manager’s Report 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

101



BETHEL CITY MANAGERS REPORT  

October 4 to November 21, 2017  

 

Safety- Discussed forwarding employee’s attendance of the safety meetings or any 

employee training to the insurance broker through the finance department. Requested 

that departments start updating their Safety Data Sheets. Reviewed a draft report of 

from APEI concerning our Oct 12 meeting. 

Lagoon/Jetty- 11-2 Signed Bond agreement in for construction of the jetty in 

Anchorage: 11-6 Drawings are 95% complete for the Jetty and the contract was 

forwarded to the City Attorney.11/8 Received the Grant Agreement from Village Safe 

Water for the Sewer Lagoon Project for $500,000. 11/16 reviewed the scope of work in 

the contract and compared the language vs. the drawings (cut sheets). 

Intuitional Corridor- Received notice that the BNC-YKHC Subdivision was recorded 

with the State of Ak. 10/25/ - PW director and myself meet with DOWL Inc. too discuss  

the utility permit for digging a trench across the highway. On Nov 9 DOWL participated 

a pre-construction site visit the City to look at the IC Corridor . There are a few 

submittals by the builders that need to be compleated, the project is on schedule. 

The Avenues Project – A General Services for Engineering Services, the winning 

bidder will complete a Preliminary Engineer Report (PER) and the Environmental 

Assessment (EA) for this project. The following is how the financing might look if we 

follow through with the project. DOWL will complete the PER/EA. 11/17 Received 

proposal to complete the PER/EA for this project 11/20 Signed proposal with DOWL too 

produce PER/EA for this project. The PER/EA will determine the cost of installing piped 

sewer water for 4th; 5th; 6th; 7th Avenues and Alligator Acres( US 3230A ). 

The Avenue Project  
Construction Project ($1,000,000) 
Seven Sewer Trucks ($1,598,134)  
Eight Water Trucks ($2,019,704) 
Total:                    $4,618,089 
 
Likely Funding Scheme 
Grant (45%); $2,078,140  
Loan/Other Grants/City contributions (55%): $2,539,949 
- 
It is important to understand that the trucks and the construction of the water and 
sewer pipeline is consider as one project and that without the construction of the 
pipeline we can’t use these funds for the trucks. There is no firm cost of what we have 

102



2 

to spend on the construction project, it could be less or it could be more. The cost of 
the trucks are on the high end, we are still looking at reducing those costs.   
 
Ridgecrest Dr. – 10/25- signed off on a MOA giving the State of Ak the right to enter 
and to use the tracts of land needed to construct and improve Ridgecrest Drive. 
 
POLICE DEPT. - 11/15-Meet with DOWL, NEW HORIZINS  & Police Dept. to discuss a 
new communications tower. We have $170,000 from a grant. It looks like at this time 
this will be enough for the design of the tower but not enough for materials or the 
construction of a tower. 11/16 Received Site report for a communications tower and 
approved DOWL Inc to produce the geo-tech requirements, Electrical and Tower Design 
and Permitting. Funds will probably be needed to finish this project. We have $170,000 
on hand. 11/20 Signed a proposal with DOWL for the Geo-Tech work needed for the 
communication tower. 
 
BIA- 10/24- Meet with personnel from the BIA and discussed the Yukon Lodge, 
properties along East Ave and Haroldsen sub-division.  A broader discussion ensued 
concerning restrictive lots and development of the city streets and roads. I expressed 
we needed to work together to resolve problems, such as the issue of honey buckets or 
of a derelict buildings, and the city inability to take action due to the property being a 
restrictive lot. The personnel who visited with us will recommend to their superiors that 
the BIA should survey the restricted lots that are here in Bethel. 11/15; The owners of 
the Yukon Lodge secured the building. 11/21; BIA communicates that the owners of the 
Yukon Lodge are interested in selling the property. Instructed the Planning Dep.t to find 
an appraiser to determine the value of the property. The City has trespassed on two 
areas of this property in regards to East Ave. and Lind Lane.                                                                                                                                                         
 

USACE- Donlin Gold EIS update; The EIS is due in March of 2018. It will define the 

need for a dock facility in Bethel and set some guidelines if a dock is built. The 

construction plans for the dock will be a separate permit that would go through a 

separate permitting process that would include the City’s planning department. 

Port Office- 10/23/17 signed the Cert. of Substantial Completion and giving them 30 

days to correct any deficiencies that were called for on Oct.18 in the Plan Issue Report. 

11/16- Waiting for Maintenance Manuel’s, updated drawings and then we will sign the 

Certificate of Final completion. The building is in use. 

Finance Dept. – 10/19-Requested information regarding sales tax on electricity and 

fuel.10/20- Discussed utility billing with the Finance Dept. and City Attorney. FD and I 

looked over the budget regarding information for the E session. 11/7- Discussed what is 

needed to sole source a purchase with the Finance Director and the Police and Fire 

Depts.11/16-Notified the FY-16 audit is ready for publishing; Altman Rodgers sent a 

Letter of Representation stating that all the parties had provided the necessary 

103



3 

information regarding the FY-17 audit it was reviewed by myself and the City Attorney 

and forwarded to the Finance Dept. 

Courthouse- 10/17/17 Notified the Courts Administrator and Facility Manger that we 

are still considering their offer. 

YKFC- Requested a RFP for monitoring software updates, inspect and adjust and verify 

the functions of the mechanical systems and too update alarm notifications and provide 

remote access support. Building Automation System. The last contract expired and we 

paid approximately $24,000 per year for these services. 

Planning Dept.- Reviewed Letters of Abatement which have been mailed to the 

property owners. 11/810/25-Discussed the city projects that we will work with DOWl. 

11/8- Reviewed AVEC’s proposal to construct a wind tower. 

H.R. – 11/7-Signed a conditional offer of employment hiring Keith Henthorn as City of 

Bethels Human Resource Manager. 11/8 after conferring with the Finance Director, I 

instructed the HR Manger to convey an offer to the APEA, Local 6055, regarding the 

contract between the city employees and the City of Bethel.11/8 Participated in a 

grievance hearing. 

ONC- 11/8- Meet with ONC reps. and discussed a MOA for lighting in ASHA housing 

and Pinky’s Park. Requested a MOU between ONC and the City  the council meeting in 

Dec. 

 

Peter Williams, City Manger 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

104



 

 
 

Management Team Reports 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

105



M e m o r a n d u m 
 
 
 
To: Bethel City Council 
 
From: John Sargent, Grant Manager 
 
Subject: Grant Manager’s Report 
 
Date: November 8, 2017 
 
 
 
Sewer Lagoon Rehabilitation Project 
Merrell Bros. was able to pull over 3,400 dry tons from the sewer lagoon as a result of a 
change order facilitated by the City’s Project Engineer, CH2M. The order allowed Merrell 
to focus on dredging and dewatering. The City agreed to haul the sludge to the landfill. 
Approximately $450,000 of the City’s new soon-to-be-approved Village Safe Water grant 
will be used to pay Merrell for some of the additional tonnage removed. 
 
There is an unknown amount of sludge left in the lagoon above the bottom. While the 
current project does not have funding to have an engineer assess how much sludge is 
remaining, the engineers at the Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation’s 
Village Safe Water Program are aware of it. 
 
State Homeland Security Grants 
In response to City knowledge of State of Alaska procurement practices, I prepared a 
single source justification document to facilitate the purchase of Motorola radios and 
related equipment. If approved by City Administration and City Council, approval from 
the Alaska Division of Homeland Security and Emergency Management is likely. 
 
Final Grant Reports 
A Final Report was completed for both the City’s $266,000 water truck grant and its 
sewer truck grant. The City expects to be reimbursed for the purchase of one water 
truck and one sewer truck. The other water truck and sewer truck were purchased with 
City funds as a required grant match. 
 
Grant Applications 
I continue to prepare documents for the City’s expected USDA-RD grant/loan to fund 
construction of a water and sewer project between 6th and 7th Avenues and the 
purchase of 15 new water and sewer trucks. 
 
Next year’s transit grant application period and homeland security grant application 
period will open in December 2017. 
 

106



107



 

                CITY OF BETHEL      William F. Howell III, Fire Chief  

                             Fire Department                                P.O. Box 1388, Bethel, Alaska 99559  
                                  Phone: (907)-543-2131 

                  Fax: (907)-543-2702  
                                                                     bhowell@cityofbethel.net 

    
 
 

Celebrating 50 Years of Service 
  

      
 
    

DATE:  October 27, 2017 

            
TO:  Pete Williams, City Manager 
 
FROM: Bill Howell, Fire Chief 
 
SUBJECT: September 26, 2017 through October 27, 2017 Manager’s Report  
 
 
Current Events 

 

 The Bethel Fire Chief was elected to the Alaska Fire Chief’s Association, Board 

of Directors.  We look forward to a greater level of involvement in State affairs 

and sharing Bethel’s point of view with the organization. 

   

 Medic-6 arrived in Bethel on September 26. The ambulance was inspected by 

V&E and is now registered and insured. The fire department crew is in the 

process of stocking the vehicle with equipment and supplies. 

 

 Fire prevention activities were conducted during the month of October.  

Hundreds of K-4th grade students visited the fire station and were taught about 

fire safety.  The department also visited the stores and Saturday Market to sell 

and test smoke detectors.  October is Fire Prevention Month in Alaska. 

 

 A new Driver/Operator course for the department was reviewed by admin and is 

being implemented that will involve completing an online driver safety course for 

emergency vehicle operators, NFPA 1002 cone course, training on all 

equipment, and knowledge of the vehicle chassis.  This course will be submitted 

to the Alaska Fire Standards Council for accreditation and those completing this 

course will receive a State certification. 

 

 The Department has selected a new Records Management Systems (RMS) 
called “Emergency Reporting”.  Department data is being transferred into the 
system.  This new RMS places all important documents and records within quick 

108



 

reach of any member authorized to access it.  A significant improvement in 
efficiency and operational picture is expected from the use of the new RMS.   

 The specifications for the new ladder truck are in the final stages of review.  We 
are working with the Finance Department to secure a lease company for the 
purchase.  

 The RFP for ambulance billing and collection services is undergoing final review 
by the City Attorney and Finance department and should be issued soon. 

 The Department administrative staff continues work on a new Policies, 

Procedures, S.O.P., Rules and Regulations manual for the department.  The new 

Driver operator program is part of this effort.  

Community Planning/Preparedness 

 On November 9, 2017 in the Alaska Division of Homeland Security, Bethel Fire 
Department, and the National Protection and Programs Directorate Office of 
Infrastructure Protection, within the U.S. Department of Homeland Security are 
hosting a one-day Security Workshop to enhance awareness of, and response 
to, an active shooter event: 

o Educating participants on the history of active shooter events. 

o Describing common behavior, conditions, and situations associated with 
active shooters; and 

o Fostering communication between critical infrastructure owners and 
operators and local emergency response teams. This course includes 
discussions of interoperability, 

 

 The Department reviewed and submitted comment to planning for the proposed 

Cullkulek Subdivision located behind the Public Health Nursing building.   

 

 The department has been discussing security concerns at the High School with 

the LKSD security director. 

 

 An E-mail was sent to the fire Marshall’s office regarding concerns for safety 

issues at a local hotel. 

 

 The Department made contact with Crowley Petroleum, to determine a source 

and storage location for a sufficient amount of class B foam to suppress a large 

fuel fire.  The Fire Department is only storing small quantities of class B foam and 

has switched the bulk of our inventory to class A foam for structural fires. 

Training 

 On 09/28/17 at 7:00 p.m., a Fire Meeting was held at the fire station. Responders 

reviewed fire ground strategy & tactics and case studies.  

109



 

 On 10/03/17 at 7:00 p.m., an EMT Meeting was held at the fire station. 
Responders reviewed current treatment protocols and HARE traction, Sager and 
KTD and practiced long bone splinting.   
 

 On 10/12/17 at 7:00 p.m., a Fire Meeting was held at the fire station. Responders 

reviewed and practiced ladders and drills. 

 On 10/17/17 at 7:00 p.m., an EMT Meeting was held at the fire station. 

Responders reviewed current treatment protocols for Cardiac Emergencies and 

conducted scenario drills.  

 On 10/26/17 at 7:00 p.m., a Fire Meeting was held at the fire station. Responders 

reviewed and practiced search and rescue techniques. 

 A State of Alaska Emergency Trauma Technician course has been developed 

and is available as a hybrid online course to current and future members who 

have not yet taken the EMT-1 Course.  ETT certification leads to EMT-1 

certification. 

 Several safety topics were discussed/reviewed at various times throughout 

October. 

Responses 

 

 On 10-13-17 at 2:20 p.m., Medics responded to airport for the report of an 
inbound medevac. The patient and crew were transported to the hospital. 
 

 On 10-13-17 at 5:00 p.m., Medics responded to the area of Schwalbe Road for 
the report of an intoxicated person who was unresponsive. The patient was 
assessed and transported to the hospital. 

 10-17-17 at 12:07 a.m., Medics responded to the area of Tundra Ridge 
Subdivision for the report of a person being assaulted. The patient was assessed 
and transported to the hospital. 
 

 On 10-19-17 at 8 p.m. Medics responded with Bethel Police to the area of 
Ridgecrest for a report of a person who being assaulted. The patient refused to 
medical care. The patient was transported by officers. 
 

 On 10-19-17 at 8:51 p.m., Medics responded to the area of Weber Circle for a 
report of a person having alcohol withdrawals. The patient was evaluated, 
refused transport and was left at the scene. 
 

 On 10-20-17 at 5:43 a.m. Medics responded to a report of a person with 
shortness of breath near Jacobs Way. The patient was evaluated and taken to 
the ER for treatment.    

 

110



 

Budget/Financial  
 

 All Department accounts are within budget. 

 The department is developing budget figures for future capital needs, firefighting 
foam and firefighter turnouts. 

 A single source request is being prepared for review by the Manager for Motorola 
radio equipment 

Grants  
 

 The Department received $7,500 in funding for portable radios through the 2017 
VFA grant.   
 

 The Grants Manager reported that a Homeland Security reallocation request was 
approved to supply the fire department with 3 new mobile radios and 12 new 
portables.  A purchase order will be submitted for this purchase soon. 

 
 The Department received a turndown notification letter for our FEMA Assistance 

to Firefighters Grant request for 38 sets of firefighter turnouts.  The request 
totaled $102,000. Some Firefighter PPE will have to be purchased this year to 
replace those of aged out. 

 
Staffing/recruitment 

 The Department is recruiting for one Firefighter/EMT position. Interviews will begin 
soon.   
 

 A temporary firefighter, Matthew Cochrane was hired from our volunteer core to 
help cover the daily needs of the department while we search for a full time 
employee 
 

 Volunteer Firefighters and EMT’s are needed.  An EMT-1 class is planned for 
November 2017. 

 
Vehicles & Equipment 
 

 We are working with V&E to develope a preventative maintenance program for 
department’s vehicles.  Staffing levels at the V&E Department seem to be an 
ongoing difficulty in providing this service. 

 Engine 3, our 1986 Grumman reserve pumper, is still out of service but most 
major repairs are complete. The vehicle has passed vacuum test and will be 
pump tested before freeze up. 

 
 
 

FIRE DEPARTMENT VEHICLE STATUS 

Vehicle Type  Year Status 

111



 

Medic 4 Ambulance 1999 (Backup ambulance)In service. Leaking airbags 

Medic 5 Ambulance 2003 (Frontline Ambulance) In service, headlight fixture 
repaired in house.  Work order issued.  (Plan to remount 

to new chassis in 2018) 
Medic 6 Ambulance 2017 (Soon-to-be Frontline Ambulance) Awaiting 

inspection, title, registration, and insurance. 

Engine 4 Pumper 2013 (Frontline pumper) In service, Seat belt sensor 
silenced but still needing repair by V&E. 

Engine 3 Pumper 1986 (Back up pumper) Out of service, Tank repair 
complete.  Awaiting pump test 
(Poor overall condition  needs replacement) 

Truck 1  Ladder 
Truck 

1980 (Frontline ladder truck) Out of service, Pump and 
ladder need repair.  Decertified. No work order, 
equipment is obsolete.  (Scheduled for replacement in 2018.) 

Tanker 1 Tanker  
(1500 gallon) 

1980 In service, runs poorly, needs tune up, Work order 
issued. (Undersized for Bethel, poor condition, needs replacement). 

Com 1 Pickup 2014 In service registration completed.  Plow needs repair. 

Com 2 Pickup 2004 In service, plow and running board needs repair. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

112



113



114



115



Memorandum 
Date: October 25, 2017 
To: Pete Williams, City Manager 
From: Bo Foley, IT Director 
Subject: IT Director’s Report 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

 

October 2017 Current Events 

 Port Building Security and Fire Systems: This month saw the completion of the new and 

improved Port building. I made sure to get in touch with United Utilities to set up analog phone 

lines for both the fire and security systems as well as a backup line for each. United Utilities will 

be assisting me in getting network connectivity to the building in the very near future so that 

Port operations can be shifted there. 

 Failed 911 Computer: The main 911 computer at the police department has been experiencing 

some hardware failures and crashing randomly. I worked in tandem with ProComm (installers of 

the system) and Airbus (administrators of the system) to try to fix the issues without having to 

send the computer off for repairs. The solutions we came up with did not last and resulted in me 

sending the computer to Anchorage. Once there, ProComm/HP ran into more problems with the 

hard drive of the unit and so now, they are going to have to plan a trip to Bethel to set up and 

install a new computer from scratch. Fortunately, there are redundancies in place and so the 

main computer being down has not halted the PD’s ability to take and respond to 911 calls. We 

hope to have the main computer back up and running within a couple of weeks.  

 Generic User Implementation: The city has been experiencing severely high turnover rates 

especially in the finance department and public works. Because of this, it was decided that users 

for those departments would receive generic usernames and emails, rather than name‐specific 

instances, so to facilitate smooth and quick transitions between turnovers as it typically takes 

me a good chunk of time to set up specific people.  With generic accounts, old emails and old 

files can easily be at the ready for new employees. We will be rolling out this new model from 

this point forward. A generic account has already been set up for the property maintenance 

crew, the hauled utilities foreman, and several positions within finance.  

 Failed Backups: During my predecessor’s tenure as IT director, he was using a network 

monitoring software that enabled him to keep closer watch on what was going on in his 

network. Recently, however, that software has been causing issues for the city’s backup process 

and has manifested in system crashes on select user desktops as well. Because of this, I am 

going to take steps to expunge that software from the city’s network. Data assurance for the 

city’s sensitive files is far more important to our operations than the software and so losing it is 

the lesser of two evils.  

 Police Dept APSIN Non‐Compliance: Several months ago, some auditors came by the Police 

Dept. for an audit on the security and policies surrounding computers with access to the Alaska 

Public Safety Information Network (APSIN).  Unfortunately, the PD as well as I was unable to 

produce written policies and procedures for several areas. This was due in part from my 

predecessor not passing this information onto me. I am working with Arctic IT in tandem with 

the PD to button up all the areas we were non‐compliant in and make sure that a packet is put 

together so that we are prepared for future APSIN audits and are in good standing as far as 

compliance. 

116



Memorandum 
Date: October 25, 2017 
To: Pete Williams, City Manager 
From: Bo Foley, IT Director 
Subject: IT Director’s Report 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 Remote RMS Access: At the request of the new police chief, I am trying to find a way to provide 

him and his lieutenant with a way to remotely access their RMS system simply to see what cases 

are open even when they are away on training. As it involves a lot of port opening and firewall 

tweaking, I am trying to get Arctic IT involved to discuss the matter with both eForce and GCI as 

needed.  

 Business‐As‐Usual: Beyond the above mentioned items, the month has mostly been fixing or 

helping with run‐of‐the‐mill trouble tickets such as email, printing, or login problems. 

 

 

 

Future Plans 

 Server Room Cable Management: I am expecting TecPro on a return trip in a couple weeks to 

assist me with some cable management for the server room change. This shouldn’t be an issue 

to get completed in a single day 

 City Hall Storage Expansion: AIT and I are still trying to find the most cost effective solution in 

order to both extend the city’s data storage space while at the same time providing enough 

space to create a redundant backup for the Police Dept.’s video evidence. Currently, licensing is 

proving to be more expensive than we would like so we are still exploring other options that fit 

my budget for this project.  

 

 

117



 

 

PORT OF BETHEL 

Post Office Box 1388 
Bethel, Alaska 99559 
Voice: 907-543-2310 
Fax:    907-543-2311 

   
TO:                Peter Williams 

FROM: Allen Wold Port Director 

SUBJECT:  October 2017 Managers Report  

                         
 
 

 Small Boat Harbor 
-Cleaned embankments and everywhere else in the SBH 
-Pulling up sunken boats/bailing out boats 
-Pushing out boats during tides.  
-Pulled out floats and anchors 
-Putting boats into winter storage 

 
 

 City Dock/Beach 1 
-Tugs and barge pulled up for winter storage. 
-AK Logistics still delivering to the villages.  
-Grading dock with grader, D-5, and loader. 
-1427.4175 tons of wharfage.  

 

 Petro Port 
-Putting away ladders, porta pottie, and fire extinguisher. 

 
 Port Office  

-TC Construction building Port Office. Pro Dev. checking on the Port Office with the architect.  
-Training on the security, fire alarm, plumbing, and electrical. Included Building Maint, I.T. Director, 
and City Manager. 
-Ordered a security camera, looking into furniture. 
-B.U.C. installing utility pole. 

 
 

 Admin 
-Monthly Storage billing for customers. 

 -Water Call outs for Barges. 
 -Taking inventory of left over building materials from the Port Office.  
 -Letting seasonal workers go. 
  

118



 
 

 

 Seawall 
-Fixing Cable Fencing/Welding new posts for cable fencing. 
-Picking up around dumpsters daily. 
-Cleared drift around Float Plane Area 

 
 

 East Addition 
-B.U.C. pulling out Utility Poles for upcoming B.B.S.P. Project next year.  
-Clearing out Second Ave with Dozer, Loader, and Dumptruck 

 
 Misc./Vehicles 

-V&E working on our heavy equip. (Telehandler, D-5 Dozer, and Dump truck) 
-Safety checks along the seawall 
-Picking up as needed where needed. 

 -Safety Meetings. 
 -Talking with procurement officers about getting security cameras for the SBH and Port Office. 

   
 
 

 
 
               
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
       
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  
                      

 
 

 
 

 
                  
            
            

119



 

       Bethel Police Department | P.O. Box 809 | 157 Salmonberry Rd. | Bethel, Alaska 99559 

                 Telephone 907-543-3781 | Fax 907-543-5086 | www.cityofbethel.org 

 

City of Bethel 

PPoolliiccee  DDeeppaarrttmmeenntt 
              
 

 

October 2017 Monthly Report 

 

 

Personnel: 

 

Eldon Wesdahl and Logan Hughes both successfully completed their field 

training and are working on their own.  This left us completely staffed with 2 

CSOs and 3CSPs for PFD season.  What a help that was.  Both recruits at 

the Public Safety Academy continue to do well and graduate on November 

9th and are scheduled to start their field training shortly thereafter.   

 

A new Public Safety Dispatcher, Vivian Bosgal, started her training on 

October 10th.  She’s doing well and is starting to speak on the radio and 

answer calls.  That leaves only the supervisor position vacant.  Having a 

relief dispatcher will give dispatchers a welcome break and should speed up 

records requests etc. from the public. 

 

Both applicants for the open Police Officer positions did not pass their 

background investigations.  Other applications are being evaluated and those 

that pass the minimum qualifications will then be subject to background 

investigations.  None of the remaining applicants are currently certified 

police officers and will have to attend the Public Safety Academy in Sitka.    

 

eForce, the vendor for both the computer aided dispatch and records 

management system for the Department is scheduled for two days of training 

starting on October 30th.  Every employee in the Department is scheduled to 

attend a minimum of 4 hours of training.  Efficiency and accuracy of 

information should greatly improve.      

 

Operations: 

 

There were 1,758 calls for service between September 29th and October 26th.   

Fifty-six of those calls resulted in police case reports being generated, of 

which, 13 were felony investigations and 32 were misdemeanors.  This is a 

120



 

       Bethel Police Department | P.O. Box 809 | 157 Salmonberry Rd. | Bethel, Alaska 99559 

                 Telephone 907-543-3781 | Fax 907-543-5086 | www.cityofbethel.org 

 

significant jump in felony investigations from previous months.  This was 

likely due to several burglaries and associated thefts reported early in 

October.  Those cases were solved resulting in charges referred against three 

juveniles.  Most of the property was located and returned to the owners.   

 

There were a total of 580 reports of intoxicated pedestrians in this period.  

That is up from last month, but only by approximately 10%.  Not as much as 

anticipated considering PFD checks came out early in the month.  Only one 

unexpected death was investigated which appeared to be alcohol related.  A 

male missing since mid-September still has not been located.  Alcohol is a 

suspected factor in that missing person case as well.   

 

On 10/19/17 the Grand Jury indicted a 17 year old male, as an adult, on four 

counts of Assault I.  The indictment stemmed from an August incident 

which resulted in two women being hospitalized, one in the intensive care 

unit in Anchorage.  The juvenile was being held in the Bethel Youth Facility 

on an unrelated felony assault from the time of his arrest in August until the 

indictment.  He was remanded into the YK Correctional Center after the 

indictment.  Alcohol was a contributing factor in this incident as well.    

 

Animal Control: 

 

There were 26 animal control calls for service for the month, approximately 

half of the previous month.  There was an additional 33 incidents for pound 

duties for cleaning kennels and feeding/watering the animals.  There were a 

total of 8 dogs taken into custody.  There were two reported dog bites and 

both animals were taken into quarantine.     

 

 

  
 

 

 

121



 

City Clerk’s Report  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

122



1 of 1 cityclerk@cityofbethel.net  

907-543-1384 

 

City of Bethel, Alaska 
City Clerk’s Office 
 

Council Meetings and Events 
November 24, Regular Meeting 
December 12, Regular Meeting 
December 21, 2017 Joint Task Force Meeting –Deadline for agenda items will be December 13, 2017.  
 
 
 

Other Projects 
 

Community Action Grant- Organizing the processes and documents related to the Grant. The first meeting 
of the Board will be on November 29th. Their recorder has been appointed by the City Manager, the City 
Clerk will attend the first meeting to ensure everyone understands the process.  

 
Committee/Commission Document Management- twice a year the office conducts an audit of records 
submitted by each of the committees and commission. With a number of documents missing from the 
submission list we are working with the committee recorders to get them caught up.  
We are also preparing for annual training for the recorders and Committee/Commission Members.  
 
Close out of Alaska Municipal League Travel Expense Reports for the Council and staff.  
 
Preparing for Committee/Commission Training as well as Ex Officio Training for the staff. The office will also 
be preparing a public records/records retention training to provide to the staff in December. A training for 
the Ex Officio members will be provided on November 30.  
 
The office is working on a response to a public records request appeal for the Police Department. The City 
Clerk will be working with Chief Waldron on improving the PD’s processes for records releases to help 
prevent future issues on timely releases.  
 

 
 

 
 
 

123

mailto:cityclerk@cityofbethel.net


Executive Session 

124



CITY OF BETHEL 
CITY ATTORNEY ANNUAL EVALUATION NOVEMBER 28, 2017

1 

City Attorney: Patty Burley 

Rating: 5 = Excellent; 1 = Needs improvement 

Interaction with City Council  5 4 3 2 1 

Keeps Council informed on legal issues concerning the City 

Provides professional advice in a clear, concise manner to Council on items 
requiring Council action 

Provides sufficient information to enable Council to make well-informed 
decisions 

Successfully translates Council directives into ordinances, policies or actions 

Provides unbiased, objective advice to Council 

Provides timely, accurate advice to Council 

Successfully negotiates and drafts contracts that meet the City’s needs 
Attendance at City Council Meetings 

Availability for committee and commission meetings 

Provides Grammatically correct and internally consistent language in 
Ordinances 

Comments: 

125



CITY OF BETHEL 
CITY ATTORNEY ANNUAL EVALUATION NOVEMBER 28, 2017 

 2 

Interaction with City Staff 5 4 3 2 1 

Provides professional advice in a clear, concise manner on items that are 
otherwise confusing to City staff 

     

Provides sufficient information to enable staff to act accordingly and 
communicate with their customers (public) 

     

Responds to staff questions in a timely, accurate fashion      

Provides unbiased, objective advice       

Provides concise, relative legal advice to staff allowing the staff to make  
confident work decisions and policies 

     

Comments:             

 
 

Legal skills  5 4 3 2 1 

Knowledge of State and Federal law      

Knowledge of City law      

Ability to interpret and relate legal concepts       

Ability to research the law and clearly present research       

Comments:             

126



CITY OF BETHEL 
CITY ATTORNEY ANNUAL EVALUATION NOVEMBER 28, 2017 

 3 

 

Litigation and Prosecutorial skills 5 4 3 2 1 

Provides sound legal representation for the City      

Exercises prosecutorial and defense functions justly and effectively       

Willingness to exercise prosecutorial and defense functions to meet needs 
of the City 

     

Comments:             

 
 

Ethics and Communication 5 4 3 2 1 

Defends principle and conviction in the face of partisan influence and 
pressure 

     

Maintains high standards of ethics, honesty and integrity in all matters      

Effectively communicates with staff, Council and the public      

Writes clearly and concisely      

Expresses ideas and opinions in a forthright, logical manner      

Remains poised and calm in difficult situations      

Represents the City to the public in a positive light      

Comments:             

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

127



CITY OF BETHEL 
CITY ATTORNEY ANNUAL EVALUATION NOVEMBER 28, 2017 

 4 

 
Total Score:   Excellent: 145  

   Very Good: 116  
   Good: 87  
   Satisfactory: 58  

   Needs Improvement: 29  

128



CITY OF BETHEL 
CITY ATTORNEY ANNUAL EVALUATION NOVEMBER 28, 2017 

 5 

Reviewer’s Comments/recommendations: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
City Attorney Comments: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
       

Reviewer’s Signature  Date  City Attorney’s Signature  Date 
 

129



 

Additional Information  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

130


	Approval of the Meeting Minutes
	Reports of Standing Committees
	Special Order of Business
	Unfinished Business
	New Business
	Mayor’s Report
	City Manager’s Report
	Management Team Reports
	City Clerk’s Report
	Executive Session
	Reports Standing Committees of Nov. 9 Agenda and Packet Items.pdf
	Nov 2017 agenda
	Draft Oct  12 Minutes
	City of Bethel, Alaska
	Planning Commission
	I. CALL TO ORDER:
	A regular meeting of the Planning Commission was held on    October 12, 2017 at 6:30 pm in the City of Bethel Council Chambers room, in Bethel, Alaska.  Chair Hanson called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM.
	II.  ROLL CALL:
	Compromising a quorum of the Commission, the following members were present for roll call:  Kathy Hanson, John Guinn, Cliff Linderoth, Jon Cochrane, Alex Wasierski, Lorin Bradbury, and Council Representative Mark Springer arrived late at 7:02pm.  Also...



	Draft Oct 19 Minutes
	City of Bethel, Alaska
	Planning Commission
	I.  CALL TO ORDER
	II. ROLL CALL



	DOC021




